## Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators under Different Land Use Pattern of West Bengal

Thesis Submitted to Midnapore City College for the Partial Fulfillment of the Degree of Master of Science (Agriculture) in Agronomy

Submitted by

## Arpan Manna, Avijit Maity, Dharmadas Mondal, Sohel

Rana Mondal, Soyeb Akhtar, Sugata Patra

Under supervision of

Ms. Shreyosi Roy Assistant Professor, Department of Agricultural Science



Department of Agricultural Sciences **MIDNAPORE CITY COLLEGE** 

Kuturiya, P.O. Bhadutala, Paschim Medinipur, Pin-721129 West Bengal, India

2023

#### Declaration

I do hereby declare that the present Master thesis entitled 'Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators Under Different Land Use Pattern of West Bengal' embodies the original research work carried out by me in the Department of Agriculture, Midnapore City College, Paschim Medinipur, West Bengal, India under the supervision of Ms. Shreyosi Roy, Asst. Professor, Department of Agriculture, Midnapore City College, Paschim Medinipur, West Bengal, India. No part thereof has been submitted for any degree or diploma in any University.

> Arpan Manna Avijit Maity Dharmadas Mondal Sohel Rana Mondal Soyeb Akhtar Sugata Patra

Date:

Place: Midnapore City College, Paschim Medinipur

### **Approval Sheet**

This project report entitled "Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators Under Different Land Use Pattern of West Bengal" by Arpan Manna, Avijit Maity, Dharmadas Mondal, Sohel Rana Mondal, Soyeb Akhtar, Sugata Patra is approved for the degree of Master of Science in Agronomy, (Agriculture).

(Signature of Examiners)

(Name: .....)

(Signature of Guide)

(Name: Ms. Shreyosi Roy)

(Signature of Teacher-In-Charge)

(Name: Dr. Kuntal Ghosh)

(Signature of Director)

(Dr. Pradip Ghosh)

Midnapore City College

Date: _	
Place:	

#### Acknowledgement

I would first like to acknowledge Dr. Pradip Ghosh, Hon'ble Founder Director, Midnapore City College, Paschim Medinipur for providing me the opportunity to study and complete my thesis work in this college. I am gratefully indebted to him for his very valuable comments on this thesis.

I would like to thank my thesis advisor Ms. Shreyosi Roy of the Department of Agriculture at Midnapore City College. The door to Ms. Roy office was always open whenever I ran into a trouble spot or had a question about my research or writing. She consistently allowed this paper to be my own work, but steered me in the right the direction whenever he/she thought I needed it.

I would also like to thank Mr. Pratonu Bandyopadhyay, Dr. Kartik Bera, Dr. Anulina Manna, Mr. Kamalendu De, Mr. Biswanath Sardar for their support to carry out this research project. Without their passionate participation and input, the validation survey could not have been successfully conducted.

Finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents, teachers for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study and through the process of researching and writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them. Thank you.

Arpan Manna Avijit Maity Dharmadas Mondal Sohel Rana Mondal Soyeb Akhtar Sugata Patra

#### Abstract

The present research study aims to evaluate and compare soil quality indicators, including soil pH, soil texture, and soil organic carbon (SOC) content, across different land use patterns in West Bengal, India. The assessment of soil quality indicators is crucial for sustainable land management practices, as they provide valuable insights into soil health and fertility, influencing agricultural productivity and environmental sustainability. This study adopted a systematic approach to collect soil samples from various land use Pattern. Five major land use patterns were selected using Landsat imagery (Forest Land, Cultivated Land, Fallow land, Barren Land, Pasture lands) across six districts (Purulia, Malda, Nadia, Paschim Medinipur, Bankura, Purba Medinipur) of West Bengal. In this study the change in pre-kharif cropping and land use had been analyzed using NDVI of 2003 and 2023 of every selected districts. Based on false color composite of pre-kharif season sample collection site was selected from each land use pattern. Soil samples were collected from six districts of West Bengal. Samples were obtained, each accompanied by latitude and longitude data at depth of 15 cm from each land use category. The collected soil samples underwent comprehensive laboratory testing, focusing on crucial soil properties such as soil organic carbon (O.C%), soil pH, and soil texture. A thorough statistical analysis was conducted, computing the mean, standard deviation (SD), and coefficient of variation (CV) for each land use pattern. Upon analyzing the data, a noteworthy trend emerged: the forest land exhibited a neutral pH, indicating a balanced soil condition, while its organic carbon content was found to be at a moderate level. The pre-kharif crop lands, where crops are sown before the monsoon season, showed slightly higher organic carbon levels compared to other land use patterns. Fallow land displayed low organic carbon content and barren land had low organic carbon content as well. The laboratory analysis and statistical evaluation of soil samples unveiled significant differences in soil properties across various land use patterns. This information serves as a valuable resource for formulating appropriate land management strategies and sustainable agricultural practices, with the ultimate goal of preserving soil health, productivity, and ecosystem balance in the region.

Keywords: Soil pH, Soil Texture, Soil Organic Carbon, Land Use Patterns, Soil Quality.

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Study Area, Purulia, Malda, Nadia, Bankura, Paschim & Purba Medinipur.	20
Figure 2. False color composite of Purulia district	21
Figure 3. False color composite of Malda District 2023, Pre-kharif Season	21
Figure 4. False color composite of Nadia District, 2023, Pre-kharif season.	22
Figure 5. False color composite of Paschim Medinipur District, 2023, Prekharif season	. 22
Figure 6. False color composite of Bankura District, 2023, Pre-kharif season.	23
Figure 7. False color composite of Purba Medinipur District, 2023, Pre-kharif season.	24
Figure 8. NDVI of Purulia, 2023	31
Figure 9. NDVI of Purulia, 2003	31
Figure 10. Soil pH of Purulia	33
Figure 11. Soil Organic Carbon of Purulia	33
Figure 12. NDVI of Malda, 2023	34
Figure 13. NDVI of Malda, 2003	34
Figure 14. Soil pH of Malda	36
Figure 15. Soil Organic Carbon of Malda	36
Figure 16. NDVI of Nadia, 2003	37
Figure 17. NDVI of Nadia, 2023	38
Figure 18. Soil pH of Nadia	39
Figure 19. Soil Organic Carbon of Nadia	40
Figure 20. NDVI of Paschim Medinipur, 2003	41
Figure 21. NDVI of Paschim Medinipur, 2023	41
Figure 22. Soil pH of Paschim Medinipur.	42

Figure 23. Soil Organic Carbon of Paschim Medinipur	43
Figure 24. NDVI of Bankura 2003	44
Figure 25. NDVI of Bankura 2023	44
Figure 26. Soil pH of Bankura	45
Figure 27. Soil Organic Carbon of Bankura	46
Figure 28. NDVI of Purba Medinipur, 2013	47
Figure 29. NDVI of Purba Medinipur, 2013	47
Figure 30. NDVI of Purba Medinipur, 2023	48
Figure 31. Soil PH of Purba Medinipur District	50
Figure 32. Soil Organic Carbon of Purba Medinipur District	50
Figure 33. Water Body 2023	61
Figure 34. Water Body 2003	61
Figure 35. Water Body 2013	61

## List of Tables

Table 1. List of chemicals and instruments used in this study	25
Table 2. Soil Samples of Purulia District	26
Table 3. Soil Samples of Malda District	26
Table 4. Soil Samples of Nadia District	27
Table 5. Soil Samples of Paschim Medinipur District	27
Table 6. Soil Samples of Bankura District	28
Table 7. Soil Samples of Purba Medinipur District	28
Table 8. Soil Test Results of Purulia District	32
Table 9. Statistical analysis of Purulia District	32
Table 10. Soil Test Results of Malda District	35
Table 11. Statistical analysis of Malda District	35
Table 12. Soil Test Results of Nadia District	38
Table 13. Statistical analysis of Nadia District	39
Table 14. Soil Test Results of Paschim Medinipur District	42
Table 15. Statistical analysis of Paschim Medinipur District	42
Table 16. Soil Test Results of Bankura District	45
Table 17. Statistical analysis of Bankura District	45
Table 18. Soil Test results of Purba Medinipur District	49
Table 19. Statistical results of Purba Medinipur District	49

## **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	2
2. Literature Review	7
2.1. The Impact of Land-Use Pattern on Soil Organic Carbon, Soil PH and Texture	7
2.2. Effect of Land Use Pattern on Soil quality Indicators	11
3. Aims and Objectives	18
4. Materials and Methods	20
4.1. Study Area	20
4.2. Materials Used	25
4.3. Sample Collection Methods	25
4.4. Soil Test Methods	29
5. Results	31
5.1. Results of Purulia District	31
5.2. Results of Malda District	34
5.3. Results of Nadia District	37
5.4. Results of Paschim Medinipur District	41
5.5. Results of Bankura District	44
5.6. Results of Purba Medinipur District	47
6. Discussion:	53
7. Conclusions	63
8. Future Scope	66
9. References:	69

**Chapter 1: Introduction** 

#### 1. Introduction

Soil is a complex and dynamic mixture of minerals, organic matter, water, air, and various microorganisms that covers the Earth's surface. It is formed through the weathering and decomposition of rocks, combined with the accumulation of organic materials over long periods of time and provides a medium for plants to grow by supplying them with essential nutrients, anchoring their roots, and allowing for the circulation of water and air. The formation of just one inch of soil takes thousands of years, making it an invaluable resource. Thus, it is crucial to conserve and effectively manage soil to meet the needs of future generations. The pressing issue of land degradation primarily stems from the mounting population pressure. Over time, the availability of cultivable land per person has significantly dwindled, declining from 0.32 hectares in the 1950s to 0.14 hectares at the turn of the century, and finally falling below 0.1 hectares by 2020. Consequently, the challenge we face is not only to enhance productivity sustainably but also to safeguard and preserve the quality of our soil resources for the benefit of future cohorts. It is important to recognize that the land's capacity for production is inherently limited and determined by a combination of soil, climate, and landform conditions.

To achieve successful agriculture, it is imperative to employ the sustainable utilization of soil resources. This is because soils can rapidly deteriorate in quality and quantity for various reasons within a short span of time (Kiflu and Beyen, 2013). Consequently, agricultural practices necessitate a fundamental understanding of sustainable land use. Furthermore, the effectiveness of soil management in preserving soil quality relies on comprehending how soils respond to agricultural methods over time (Tufa et al., 2019). Recent attention has been drawn to evaluating the quality of our soil resources due to the growing awareness that soil plays a critically significant role in the earth's biosphere. Not only does it contribute to the production of food and fiber, but it also maintains environmental quality on local, regional, and global scales (Doran and Parkin, 1994).

Conversely, feeding the ever-expanding human population poses a major challenge in developing countries due to soil degradation. In Asian countries, for instance, declining per capita food production is primarily attributed to the depletion of soil fertility. As population pressure intensifies and soil resources continue to degrade, this challenge will persist. Reversing this trend hinges upon bolstering the sustainable development of the

agricultural sector. However, the foundation for sustainable agricultural development lies in the presence of good soil quality, as maintaining soil quality is an integral component of sustainable agriculture (Liu et al., 2010).

The degradation rate of soil quality is influenced by a combination of factors including land use systems, soil types, topography, and climatic conditions. Among these factors, inappropriate land use practices exacerbate the deterioration of soil physicochemical and biological properties (Singh et al., 1995; Saikhe et al., 1998). The chosen Land Use Patterns significantly impact crucial processes such as erosion, soil structure, aggregate stability, nutrient cycling, leaching, carbon sequestration, and other related physical and biochemical processes (Maddonni et al., 1999).

In India, the livelihoods of millions of people are under threat due to soil degradation resulting from inappropriate Land Use Patterns. The conversion of forest and pasture areas into cultivated land has led to the removal of permanent vegetation, loss of organic matter (OM), and a decrease in water-stable aggregates (WSA) and mean weight diameter (MWD), which contribute to increased soil erodibility. Land-use change has a significant influence on various soil properties, primarily through its impact on soil organic matter. The structural stability of soils, which is positively correlated with the total organic carbon content, is affected by land use (Caravaca et al., 2004). Unscientific cultivation practices have caused a reduction in soil carbon content and altered the distribution and stability of soil aggregates (Six et al., 2000).

The properties of soil are influenced by climate and geological history, particularly on regional and continental scales (Wang et al., 2001). However, at smaller catchment scales, land use emerges as the predominant factor impacting soil properties. Land use practices and soil management techniques have a direct influence on soil nutrients and related processes, including erosion, oxidation, mineralization, leaching, and more (Celik, 2005; Liu et al., 2010). Consequently, they can significantly alter the transport and redistribution of nutrients. In non-cultivated land, the type of vegetative cover plays a crucial role in determining the soil's organic carbon content (Liu et al., 2010).

Furthermore, when land-use change occurs, significant alterations take place in soils, often resulting in diminished soil quality after the cultivation of previously untilled soils (Neris et al., 2012). Therefore, both land use and vegetation type must be considered when examining the relationship between soil nutrients and environmental conditions

(Liu et al., 2010). While it is widely recognized that soil organic carbon is a critical element for improving soil quality, there is an urgent need to explore soil carbon sequestration in different Land Use Patterns as a means to alleviate soil degradation in agricultural systems.

Comprehending the effects and mechanisms associated with changes in land-use patterns is a crucial concern for policy development, particularly in the formulation of strategies for land restoration and reclamation. An illustration of this is the utilization of soil quality indicators, tailored to specific sites and climatic conditions, as a decision-making tool to guide policies aimed at land restoration and enhancing soil productivity in respective regions (Jha and Mohapatra, 2012). This approach facilitates informed decision-making and enables the implementation of targeted measures to restore and improve the productivity of land in accordance with specific environmental contexts.

Typically, agricultural research institutes and universities recommend various Land Use Patterns based on different objectives. These recommendations are then put into practice by farmers in their respective regions. However, there is a lack of sufficient information regarding the impact of these adopted Land Use Patterns on soil properties in West Bengal. This scarcity of information makes it challenging to recommend ideal and sustainable uses of land resources in the area. Therefore, it is crucial to evaluate the effects of these Land Use Patterns on soil properties and quality indicators, taking into account the regional conditions. This evaluation can provide valuable insights for developing strategies to restore soil quality and promote potential Land Use Patterns in the specific region.

In order to make informed decisions regarding Land Use Patterns, it is important to understand the dominant Land Use Patterns and their consequent impacts on soil quality indicators. This knowledge can help identify highly potential and beneficial Land Use Patterns that not only maintain higher soil quality but also contribute to the improvement of degraded lands and sustainable agriculture in the region. With this objective in mind, a study titled "Assessment of soil quality indicators under different land-use patterns of West Bengal" was conducted. This study hypothesized that pH, soil organic carbon, soil texture, and overall soil quality indices are influenced by the specific land-use practices in West Bengal. To test this hypothesis, the study aimed to achieve the following objectives:

- To assess the current status of land use pattern or area occupied by different land use pattern from every district of West Bengal.
- Evaluate variations in soil pH and soil texture across different land-use patterns.
- Quantify the levels of soil organic carbon in relation to different land-use patterns.
- Develop soil quality indicators tailored to specific Land Use Patterns.

By addressing these objectives, the study aimed to provide valuable insights into the relationship between land-use patterns and soil quality indicators, enabling the identification of appropriate Land Use Patterns in West Bengal.

**Chapter 2: Literature Review** 

#### 2. Literature Review

In order to devise successful strategies for the restoration of soil quality and the promotion of sustainable agricultural practices, it is imperative to possess a comprehensive understanding of the impact of land-use pattern on soil properties, as well as the distribution and quantities of carbon and nitrogen. Furthermore, such knowledge is crucial for planning and implementing effective measures aimed at achieving sustainable Land Use Patterns. The fundamental processes affected by Land Use Patterns encompass erosion, soil structure, aggregate stability, nutrient cycling, leaching, carbon sequestration, and various other interrelated physical and biochemical processes (Maddonni et al., 2005). Gaining insights into these intricate relationships enables the formulation of informed decisions pertaining to land-use planning, facilitating the adoption of practices that optimize soil fertility, minimize adverse environmental consequences, and foster long-term sustainability in agriculture. Given the present critical circumstances, the preservation of soil resources for the future has emerged as a significant concern, necessitating the implementation of suitable management practices within Land Use Patterns. Presently, researchers are directing their efforts towards comprehending the impacts of various land-use system types with the aim of augmenting soil organic carbon levels and enhancing overall soil quality.

# 2.1. The Impact of Land-Use Pattern on Soil Organic Carbon, Soil PH and Soil Texture

Soil organic carbon (SOC) plays a crucial role in soil quality, fertility, and productivity, as a decrease in SOC levels can have various negative impacts on crop yields. SOC is a fundamental attribute of soil quality and sustainability as it influences the physical, chemical, and biological properties and processes of the soil. It serves as a source of energy and nutrients for soil organisms, thereby impacting the nutrient availability and supplying capacity of the soil through mineralization. Moreover, SOC also affects important soil characteristics such as aggregate stability, water retention, and hydraulic properties (Haynes, 2005).

Furthermore, SOC not only directly contributes to plant nutrient availability but also indirectly influences nutrient availability within the soil. Additionally, SOC plays a significant role in maintaining the overall quality of the environment, as soil serves as a substantial reservoir for global carbon stocks (Lal et al., 1998; Verma et al., 2010).

Numerous studies, including those by Cambardella and Elliott (1992), Chan (1997), and Bhattacharyya et al. (2011), suggest that specific fractions of soil organic matter play a more significant role in maintaining soil quality and serve as sensitive indicators for assessing the impact of land-use management. Martin et al. (2010) and Singh et al. (2011) observed a decrease in soil organic carbon stocks under agricultural land-use compared to forestry and horticulture land-uses. However, it is important to recognize that both the quantity and quality of soil organic carbon sequestered can vary under different land-use systems, and these variations can have diverse yet significant effects on soil quality, such as soil structural stability and chemical fertility. This understanding is crucial for selecting appropriate land-use patterns on global climate change. Cropping systems and management practices that promote the return of a greater amount of crop residues to the soil are expected to contribute to a net increase in soil organic carbon stocks (Kaur et al., 2008).

In the past decade, there has been growing concern about the greenhouse effect, leading to numerous studies focused on understanding the quality, type, distribution, and behavior of soil organic carbon (SOC). The impact of global warming and its implications for SOC management have prompted quantitative estimates of the global carbon content in soil. The current estimate for global SOC stock is approximately 1,500-1,550 Pg (Eswaran et al., 1993). The initial estimation of organic carbon stock in Indian soils, based on 48 soil samples, was 24.3 pg. (1 Pg = 1015 g) (Gupta and Rao, 1994). Forest soils, due to their high organic matter content, play a significant role as carbon sinks, accounting for about 40% of the total SOC stock is approximately 142 Pg. C, which represents 8-10% of the total soil carbon.

Soils can function as either sinks or sources of carbon in the atmosphere, depending on changes occurring in soil organic matter. The equilibrium between the decomposition rate and the supply rate of organic matter is disrupted when land-use is altered (Lal, 1999). Soil organic matter can increase or decrease depending on various factors, including climate, vegetation type, nutrient availability, disturbances, and land-use and management

practices (Leifeld and Kogel-Knabner, 2005). Physical soil properties, such as soil structure, particle size, and composition, have a significant impact on soil carbon. Soil particle size influences the decomposition rate of soil organic carbon. The decomposition of litter plays a crucial role in the internal biogeochemical cycle of an ecosystem, as decomposers release a substantial amount of carbon previously stored in plants or trees back into the atmosphere while recycling nutrients.

Kumar et al. (2003) conducted a study on different agroforestry systems and found that the soil organic carbon stock was highest in the silvi-pasture system (74.82 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), followed by natural grassland (44.33 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), agri-horti-silviculture (43.97 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), horti-pastoral (42.97 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), Agri-horticulture (27.81 Mg ha-1), and lowest in Agri-silviculture (27.33 Mg ha-1).

In a long-term investigation by Kundu et al. (2007) on the impact of manure and fertilizer application in the soybean-wheat cropping system, it was observed that plots treated with NPK + FYM contained 40-70% higher soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks (60.3 Mg C ha-1) compared to NPK-treated (43.1 Mg C ha-1) and control plots (35.5 Mg C ha-1) in the soil section from 0-45 cm depth. The soybean-wheat cropping system contributed a total yearly carbon addition of 890 kg ha-1 yr-1 in the unfertilized control plots, with 19% directly contributing to the increase in soil organic carbon content. The rise in SOC content in the long-term cropping system was attributed to the yearly carbon addition exceeding the required amount to sustain equilibrium soil organic matter content.

Singh et al. (2007) estimated carbon stocks in different soils of Rajasthan and found that the surface soil horizon (0-25 cm) was the major sink for carbon sequestration, accounting for 31% of the total soil carbon stocks (2.13 Pg). The highest carbon stocks were observed in Entisols (0.72 Pg.), followed by Aridisols (0.70 Pg), Inceptisols (0.61 Pg), Alfisols (0.015 Pg.), and lowest in Verisols (0.105 Pg.). The land-use pattern also influenced SOC stocks, with the arid region showing higher average SOC stocks in single and double-cropping systems compared to scrublands, while in the semiarid region, scrublands exhibited higher SOC stocks compared to cropping lands.

In a long-term study conducted by Mandal et al. (2008) in alluvial soils of the Indo-Gangetic plain with a rice-based cropping system, the highest carbon sequestration was observed in the rice-wheat-jute system (535 kg ha-1 yr-1) at Barrackpore, followed by Rice-mustard-sesame (414 kg ha-1 yr-1) and rice-fallow-rice (402 kg ha-1 yr-1) systems at the Central Rice Research Institute (CRRI), Cuttack.

Kishwan et al. (2009) assessed carbon sequestration in various forest types in India and found that from 1995 to 2005, soil carbon in forest land increased from 3552.30 to 3755.81 mt, with a decadal increment of 203.50 mt. Tropical moist deciduous forests exhibited the highest net increment, followed by tropical dry deciduous forests, while Himalayan dry temperate forests showed the least increase due to smaller area and lower soil organic carbon content. The soil component sequestered a larger amount of carbon compared to plant biomass under different forest types.

Guang-Lu and Xiao-Ming (2010) investigated the effect of land-use changes from grassland to cropland and cropland to forest (after 23 years) and orchard (after 7 years) on carbon and nitrogenstocks. They found that cropland soil experienced carbon and nitrogen losses of 31% and 26% compared to grassland soil. However, the conversion of cropland into forest and orchard lands resulted in a 76% and 66% increase in carbon stocks and a 40% and 63% increase in nitrogen stocks, respectively. The increase in carbon and nitrogen stocks was primarily observed in coarse soil aggregate fractions under forest and grassland-use systems.

Dinakaran et al. (2011) studied the influence of grass and herbaceous aerial cover on soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestration in Vadodara, India. They found that herbaceous land cover had a higher SOC content (15.6-23.2 g kg-1) compared to grassland cover (7.8-9.8 g kg-1). Both land cover types showed higher values of SOC, microbial biomass carbon, and dissolved organic carbon during the monsoon season and comparatively lower values during the summer season.

Tesfahunegn and Gebru (2020) conducted a study to assess soil organic carbon and nitrogen stocks in different cropping and land-use systems. The results showed that the highest levels of soil organic carbon (175.3 Mg C ha-1) and total nitrogen (13.6 Mg N ha-1) stocks were observed in natural forest land-use systems. On the other hand, untreated gully lands had the lowest levels of soil organic carbon (14.5 Mg C ha-1) and total nitrogen (1.20 Mg N ha-1). There was a significant reduction in soil organic carbon stocks under untreated gully (UTG) and teff mono-cropping (TM), with reductions of 91.7% and 87.1%, respectively, compared to the natural forest land-use system. Similarly, total nitrogen stocks decreased by 91.2% and 82.7% in UTG and TM, respectively.

The study also found that mean total nitrogen stocks (TN-stock) decreased by 71.9%, 69.6%, 65.1%, and 33.5% in land-uses of crop rotation, intercropping, maize monocropping, and treated gully, respectively, compared to the natural forest system.

In their research conducted in 1997, Gilley and Doran investigated the influence of various land-use systems on the soil texture in the top layer of soil. The results showed that the undisturbed system exhibited a higher percentage of very fine silt and clay (34%) compared to the system that underwent cultivation for nine months (24%). The sand content, on the other hand, was recorded at 14% and 16% in the undisturbed and cultivated systems after nine months of tillage, respectively. The study further revealed that the distribution of clay content was altered due to the cultivation practices. Noelle Meyer et al. conducted a study in 2008 to investigate the short-term and long-term effects of converting permanent pasture (PAS) into arable cultivated lands on soil organic carbon and soil aggregation. The findings indicated that in the short-term study sites (with more than three years of cultivation), there was a 29% reduction in the content of largesize aggregates (>4mm) and a 37% increase in the content of very small-size soil aggregates (<1mm). Additionally, there was a 16% decrease in soil organic carbon compared to PAS soils, while the content of intermediate-size soil aggregates (1-4mm) remained unchanged. In contrast, in the long-term study site (with 14 years of cultivation), there was a 30% decrease in the content of intermediate-size soil aggregates and a 32% decrease in organic carbon compared to PAS land. The overall results of the study indicated that soil organic carbon and aggregation underwent rapid changes, but water infiltration, water retention (soil hydraulic properties), and bulk density were primarily affected in the long term due to cultivation when compared to PAS lands.

#### 2.2. Effect of Land Use Pattern on Soil quality Indicators

Periodic evaluation of soil resources is imperative for the purpose of sustainable land management, as well as for the maintenance or enhancement of soil quality, in order to meet the escalating demands for food, feed, fiber, and fuels (Cherubin et al., 2016). Soil quality refers to the inherent capability of a specific type of soil to function effectively within the boundaries of natural or managed ecosystems, thereby ensuring the sustained productivity of biological organisms, the preservation or improvement of water and air quality, and the support of human health and habitation (Karlen et al., 1997). The

assessment of soil quality plays a vital role in identifying both detrimental and beneficial alterations in the physicochemical and biological attributes caused by diverse Land Use Patterns. It also guides agricultural land users towards the implementation of sustainable land management practices (McGrath and Zhang, 2003) and aids in the analysis of soil nutrient requirements (Chen et al., 2013). Soil quality indices serve as valuable decision-making tools, efficiently integrating a variety of information for the purpose of making decisions that encompass multiple objectives (Karlen and Stott, 1994). Scientists and researchers have developed diverse equations and assessment frameworks to determine soil quality indices, enabling the detection of the impact of changes in land use on soil quality.

Soil quality research primarily focused on the soil's capacity to supply nutrients and its impact on agricultural productivity. However, more recently, researchers have emphasized that soil quality cannot be directly measured. Instead, it is inferred from various soil quality attributes or indicators, as it is influenced by external factors such as soil management, land-use practices, environmental and ecosystem interactions, as well as political and socioeconomic priorities (Doran et al., 1996). These soil quality indicators, also referred to as soil attributes, monitor the effects that soil has on outcomes such as increased biomass, improved water use efficiency, and enhanced aeration. They also play a crucial role in providing a suitable medium for plant growth, regulating water storage and flow, and acting as a protective buffer against harmful substances in the soil and environment (Larson and Pierce, 1991). Shukla et al. (2006) further reported that these soil quality indicators can be used to evaluate soil management practices and assess the sustainability of land-use in agro-ecosystems.

Brejda and Moorman (2001) have reported that the performance of soil quality indicators is influenced by various factors such as nutrient management practices, land-use, and conservation practices. These indicators are used to determine whether soil quality is stable, improving, or declining. Assessing soil quality involves the use of multiple indicators, but interpreting their results can often be challenging (Karlen et al., 1997). Nortcliff (2002) has emphasized the need for research to identify the most suitable soil quality indicators from the wide range available. Additionally, it is important to establish well-defined methods for measuring these indicators, as inconsistent data sets may provide limited value for comparison. Therefore, the use of numerical indices as synthetic tools is crucial for integrating information on soil quality functions derived from individual parameters. Dalal and Molony (2000) have categorized soil quality indicators into four groups: visual, physical, chemical, and biological. Combining soil properties to develop integrated soil quality indices provides a more comprehensive understanding of soil quality compared to considering individual parameters alone (Sharma et al., 2008).

Certain indicators have been identified as effective measures of soil quality. Parr et al. (1992) reported that higher infiltration, macro-pores, aeration, aggregate stability and distribution, high soil organic carbon (SOC), low bulk density, soil resistance, resilience, erosion, and nutrient runoff are indicators associated with better soil quality. Chaudhury et al. (2005) suggested that for Alluvial soils, total soil nitrogen (N), available phosphorus (P), dehydrogenase activity, and mean weight diameter are key indicators. Karlen et al. (1992) emphasized the importance of biological parameters such as microbial biomass carbon and respiration as indicators of soil quality under long-term soil and land-use management. It should be noted that the selection of indicators for soil quality measurement is specific to the purpose and location of the assessment (Shukla et al., 2006).

Andrews et al. (2002) evaluated various methods of soil quality indexing to determine the best management system for vegetable production in Northern California. They compared methods such as expert opinion, principal component analysis, linear and non-linear scoring, additive index, weighted additive index, and decision support systems. The study found that the organic system consistently achieved higher soil quality index scores compared to low input or conventional treatments in all indexing combinations. Guang-Lu and Xiao-Ming (2010) reported that converting cropland to forest or orchard land significantly improved soil quality, as evidenced by increased soil macro-aggregates and their stability. Mandal et al. (2010) assessed soil quality in a Himalayan watershed and observed changes in soil functions under terraced croplands compared to a reference site. Changes in soil functions varied by landscape position, with habitat for flora and fauna, conservation of soil moisture, organic matter supply and nutrient cycling, infiltration of air and water, and resistance to erosion showing proportional changes.

In a long-term dryland agriculture experiment in Akola (Maharashtra), Sharma et al. (2011) derived soil quality indices under different soil and nutrient management practices. The study found that applying 25 kg P2O5 ha-1 + 50 kg N ha-1 through Leucaena green

biomass resulted in a significantly higher soil quality index compared to other practices. Among the different indicators, soil organic carbon, microbial biomass carbon, and available potassium made substantial contributions to the soil quality index. Fernandes et al. (2011) evaluated the effect of different management systems on soil functions using soil quality indexing. Reduced tillage showed the highest soil quality index, followed by conventional tillage and no-tillage with a double-disk planter, while no-tillage with a hoe planter had the lowest index. Macro-porosity and soil capacity for root development played crucial roles in achieving higher soil quality indices under reduced tillage and conventional tillage systems.

Mandal et al. (2013) assessed soil quality indices to evaluate the impact of different Land Use Patterns on soil sustainability in the northwest Himalayas. Significant differences in soil quality parameters were observed among various land-use types, with sal forest soils exhibiting the highest soil quality index and rainfed cropland soils showing the lowest. Lima et al. (2013) compared different indicator sets to determine soil quality indices for rice management systems with various textural classes. The study found that using the entire set of 29 indicators provided the best estimation of soil quality index. However, even a minimum data set of indicators yielded similar results, providing useful information about soil quality for land users.

Gelaw et al. (2015) investigated soil quality indices (SQIs) under various cultivated Land Use Patterns and found that the agroforestry land-use system had the highest SQI score, followed by irrigated crop production and rainfed cultivation systems. Soil organic carbon, water-stable aggregates, total soil porosity, total nitrogen, microbial biomass carbon, and cation exchange capacity were the key indicators influencing the integrated SQI values.

Rahmanipour et al. (2014) conducted a comparative evaluation of two soil quality indexing methods: one considering a total data set of analyzed soil parameters (TDS) and the other using a minimum data set (MDS) derived through principal component analysis (PCA). The integrated quality index (IQI) based on the MDS approach yielded better estimations of soil quality compared to the nemoro quality index (NQI). This suggests that using a minimum number of carefully selected soil quality indicators in a simple, non-linearly scored index can effectively identify the best management practices while reducing the cost of soil analysis.

Ngo-Mbogba et al. (2015) assessed soil quality and properties under different land covers in South Cameroon. Soil organic matter, available phosphorus, calcium, and soil pH were identified as the most appropriate soil quality indicators, accounting for a significant proportion of the soil quality variation. Different sets of soil quality indicators, including SQI13 (thirteen indicators), SQI4 (four indicators), and SQI2 (two indicators), produced similar trends, although absolute changes were observed. The highest soil quality index scores were obtained for bare soils with burned vegetation biomass, while the lowest scores were observed for bush ligneous fallow land cover.

Nakajima et al. (2015) utilized a scoring function analysis to assess soil quality indices and determine the impact of different tillage and drainage systems on soil quality. The study found that saturated hydraulic conductivity, among soil physical properties, and soil organic carbon, among chemical properties, were the most significant indicators for soil quality assessment. The soil quality index ranged from 0.69 to 0.71 under conventional tillage and no-till systems, and from 0.69 to 0.70 in drainage and no-drainage systems, with no statistically significant difference between the treatments. However, the soil quality indices exhibited a significant correlation with corn yield (R = 0.62), suggesting that the soil quality index is an effective tool for evaluating agronomic efficiency.

Kalu et al. (2015) determined soil quality indices (SQIs) for different Land Use Patterns in the Panchase region of Nepal. The study revealed that the protected forest system had the highest SQI (0.95), followed by the community forest (0.91), pasture (0.88), and khet (0.81), with the lowest SQI observed in the bari land-use system (0.79). Available phosphorus and soil organic carbon were identified as the most effective soil quality indicators, contributing significantly to the differences in SQIs among the various Land Use Patterns. The presence of protected forests with minimal human impact and abundant vegetation resulted in better soil quality, while the agricultural land-use system, characterized by higher anthropogenic activity, led to soil quality deterioration.

Cherubin et al. (2016) evaluated soil quality indices under different land-use change sequences in southern Brazil using the Soil Management Assessment Framework (SMAF). The study found that native vegetation land-use exhibited a higher soil quality index (0.87) compared to sugarcane (0.74) and pasture (0.70) Land Use Patterns. The soil quality index determined through SMAF showed significant correlations with soil organic

carbon stocks and visual evaluation of soil structure scores, which were also used to assess soil quality changes in the study.

Kaushal et al. (2016) assessed soil quality under agroforestry systems dominated by Grewia optiva. The study revealed that the highest soil quality index was observed in the sole Grewia system (0.50), followed by Grewia + Finger millet (0.47) and Grewia + Barn yard millet (0.47), while the fallow land-use system had the lowest index (0.32).

Vasu et al. (2016) developed soil quality indices (SQIs) using soil profile data of recognized soil series in the Deccan plateau, India. The study found that the SQIs derived by both the weighted method using principal component analysis (PCA) and expert opinion (EO) were well correlated with crop yields. However, the EO weighted index method showed comparable performance for both surface (0-15 cm soil depth) and control sections (0-100 cm soil depth), demonstrating its superior relationship with crop yield compared to PCA. Considering subsurface soil properties along with surface properties to assess SQI contributes to a better understanding of the relationship between SQI and distinct soil functions, as well as management objectives.

Cherubin et al. (2017) evaluated the soil quality of Brazilian oxisols using the Soil Management Assessment Framework (SMAF). The study highlighted that the conversion of natural vegetation to agricultural Land Use Patterns leads to soil quality depletion due to deterioration in physical and biological soil properties. Results demonstrated that SMAF was the most effective tool for detecting soil quality changes under different Land Use Patterns. The SMAF soil quality index combines individual soil indicator scores into a comprehensive value, facilitating the evaluation of overall soil functioning within a specific land-use system.

**Chapter 3: Aims and Objective** 

#### 3. Aims and Objectives

This study aims to address the following key aspects related to soil quality indicators and land use patterns in West Bengal and it will enhance our understanding of the relationship between land use patterns and soil quality indicators in West Bengal. The findings will contribute to the scientific knowledge base and provide valuable insights for land planners involved in sustainable land management and agricultural practices in the region. The study will compare and assess the soil quality indicators, such as soil organic carbon, soil pH, soil texture among different land use patterns prevalent in West Bengal. These land use patterns may include agricultural lands, forested areas, urban areas, and industrial zones. By analyzing the soil quality indicators across different land use patterns, the research will identify variations and differences in soil quality. It will aim to determine which land use patterns contribute positively or negatively to soil health and quality.

By achieving following objectives, a comprehensive understanding of the soil quality indicators under different land use patterns in West Bengal. The outcomes of the study will support evidence-based decision-making, land management strategies, and sustainable agricultural practices in the region.

#### **Objectives:**

- 1. To assess the current status of land use pattern or area occupied by different land use pattern from every district of West Bengal.
- 2. To determine of soil quality under different land use patter.
- 3. To represent the analyzed data in spatial map.
- 4. To study the correlation between land use pattern and soil quality status.

**Chapter 4: Materials and Methods** 

#### 4.1. Study Area

The current study focuses on evaluating soil quality indicators across various land use patterns in the state of West Bengal, India. The study area encompasses six selected districts, which have been chosen to represent the diverse land use patterns prevalent in West Bengal.

The six districts chosen for the study are (1) Purulia (2) Malda (3) Nadia (4) Paschim Medinipur (5) Bankura (6) Purba Medinipur. Each district represents a different land use pattern, providing a comprehensive understanding of the variation in soil quality indicators across different types of land use.

The selection of these diverse districts allows for a comprehensive analysis of soil quality indicators across different land use patterns, including agricultural, forested, fallow land and barren land. By encompassing these varied districts, the study aims to capture the range of soil types and land management practices that influence soil quality in West Bengal.



Figure 1. Study Area, Purulia, Malda, Nadia, Bankura, Paschim & Purba Medinipur.

Purulia District: Purulia, district of West Bengal, India is situated between 22.60

degrees and 23.50 degrees north latitudes and 85.75 degrees and 86.65 degrees east latitudes. Covering area of district is 6259 km2 with a population of 2,930,115. Purulia experience sub-tropical climate and owing to this it is one of the most drought prone districts of West Bengal. Purulia district is the eastern part of chotongpur plateau. It is characterized by gently sloping to plateau, hills, residual hill rocks, narrow vallies, etc. The main three rivers passing through the district are Kansabati, Darakeswar and Kumari, which are at present nearlyseasonal in nature. The major portions are classified under



Figure 2. False color composite of Purulia district

net are sown (53.0%), land under non-agriculture uses (16.1%), current fallow (15.9%) and forest (12.0%); while lands for other purposes are very meagre. The forest area which declined to 75.05 thousand ha mainly due to deforestation, urbanization. Although the population of district has been increased but there is a little increase net sown area.

Malda District: Malda, district of West Bengal, India is situated between the latitude

and longitude of 24°40′20″N to 25°32′08″N and 88°28′10″E to 87°45′50″E respectively with a total geographical area of 3455.66 sq km. The region is covered with plentiful natural vegetation, which makes it verdant. River beds, ponds, marshy land etc. are good habitats for the wetland undergrowth. Most of the remote villages are covered by jungles, which consist chiefly of thorny scrub bush and large trees showing wide distribution of flora. The soil of the western region of the district is particularly suited to the growth of mulberry and mango, for which Malda has become famous. Malda district encompasses a vast expanse of low-lying



Figure 3. False color composite of Malda District 2023, Pre-kharif Season

plains, traversed by several meandering rivers. When considering its topography and drainage pattern, the district can be divided into three distinct regions, Tal, Diara, Barind.

**Nadia District:** Nadia is a district located in the state of West Bengal, India, situated between the geographic coordinates of 22°53" and 24°11" N latitude and 88°09" and

88°48" E longitude. Covering of area of 390,027 km 2 with a population of 46,03, 756.The region is covered with plentiful natural vegetation, which makes it verdant. River beds, ponds, marshy land etc., are good habitats for the wetland undergrowth. Wetlands are generally highly productive ecosystems, providing various important benefits to the environment. Most of the remote villages are covered by forest and jungles, which consist chiefly of thorny scrub bush and large trees sowing wide distribution of flora. Nadia district is home to the Bethuadahari Wild life Sanctuary, which has an area of 0.7 km2. Nadia district under fluvial landscape, out which



*Figure 4. False color composite of Nadia District, 2023, Pre-kharif season.* 

78.35% under alluvial plain, 9.64% under flood plain and 6.44% under marshy land.

**Paschim Medinipur:** The targeted study area includes Paschim Medinipur district situated in south-west part of West Bengal state, India (coordinated of 22°15′N 87°39′E). It is having very vast and diverse geography and rich sociocultural status. That ranked

second largest of total area consist 9295.28 km<sup>2</sup> after the South 24-Parganas which have 9960 km<sup>2</sup>. It stands third and fourth so far, the rural population (4.58 million) and tribal population percentage (14.87) is concerned among West Bengal districts. National Highway (NH) namely NH-14 and NH-16 cuts the district into two natural divisions. Flat, fertile, alluvial soils reside on the east side of the road and undulating, infertile laterite soil is on the west. Dry deciduous forest persists in the west region while marshy wetlands are in the east part. The alluvial portion is also divisible into two vital parts. One near to



Figure 5. False color composite of Paschim Medinipur District, 2023, Prekharif season.

Hooghly and Rupnarayan river, intersected by many rivers and associated watercourses. Remaining of the eastern half is water logged filled with rice culture plain and intersected by various waterways and tidal creeks. Both flood and drought are observed in selected part of Paschim Medinipur. Flood prone zone includes Ghatal and portion of Kharagpur subdivision with a total area of 1426.47 km<sup>2</sup> and destroys crops of Pingla, Sabang. Narayangarh Community Development Blocks etc. and drought prone areas include Jhargram and Medinipur sub-division with an area of 3352.48 km<sup>2</sup>.

**Bankura:** Bankura, district of West Bengal, India is situated between 23.165°N, 87. 0624°E.coverning of area of 3882 km square with a population of 3296, 901.The region is

covered with plentiful natural vegetation, which makes it verdant. River beds, ponds, marshy land etc., are good habitats for the wetland undergrowth. Agricultural and allied sectors contribute nearly 17.8 and 17% of GDP of India. Bankura district is a part of red lateritic 'Rarh plain' of Paschim Banga and it contains a significant portion of thick sal forest. Forest land of Bankura district is 148177 ha which constitutes 21.5% total geographically area of the district coverage. A vast area



of Bankura is not cultivable due to undulation of land and morum soil. Still the rest of the land (about 60-65%)

Figure 6. False color composite of Bankura District, 2023, Pre-kharif season.

is fertile and due to availability of sufficient water supplied by either by canal or deep tube wells. Soil of Bankura district can be broadly grouped into three principal types (Groundwater resources assessment and management of the Bankura district. Viz- (1) Red soil (2) Alluvial soil and (3) Laterite soil

**Purba Medinipur:** Purba Medinipur district in West Bengal, India, is a significant study area in the research titled "Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators under Different Land Use Patterns of West Bengal." Located in the eastern part of the state. Purba Medinipur offers a distinct land use pattern and represents specific soil characteristics within the region. The district is geographically situated between approximately 21.8945° N latitude and 87.5788° E longitude. The district lies nestled between the Bay of Bengal to the south and Balasore District of Orissa State to its southern border. To the west lies

Paschim Medinipur, while the northern boundary is shared with Howrah district and its eastern flank is bordered by South 24 Parganas. This district spans across 4,30,140

hectares, constituting 4.7% of the total geographically area of the state. It accommodates approximately 5.58% of the state's population. The district's net cultivated area is 3,04,800 hectares, which accounts for 58% of the district's total land area, amounting to 1,79,025 hectares. The predominant irrigation method employed in this cultivated land is tidal water, resulting in a cropping intensity of about 170%. It encompasses a diverse range of land use patterns, including agricultural areas, urban centers, and coastal regions. This variety allows for the investigation of soil quality indicators across different land uses, providing valuable insights into the impact of



Figure 7. False color composite of Purba Medinipur District, 2023, Pre-kharif season.

these patterns on soil health. In Purba Medinipur, agricultural practices play a vital role in the district's economy, with crops such as rice, jute, pulses, groundnut and vegetables being cultivated extensively. The region's soil characteristics, including texture, nutrient content, and organic matter, are influenced by agricultural activities, water availability, and land management practices. Moreover, Purba Medinipur's coastal regions add another dimension to the study area. These coastal areas are characterized by distinct soil profiles influenced by tidal effects, saltwater intrusion, and coastal vegetation. The unique combination of marine influence and land use practices in these regions contributes to the complexity of soil quality indicators. Understanding the soil quality indicators in Purba Medinipur is essential for sustainable land use planning, agricultural productivity, and environmental management. The research aims to evaluate parameters such as soil pH, organic matter content, nutrient levels, compaction, and microbial activity in this specific district, considering the variations in land use patterns and their effects on soil health.

In conclusion, the selection of these six districts in West Bengal as the study area will enable a comprehensive assessment of soil quality indicators under different land use patterns. The research aims to contribute to the scientific knowledge base and inform evidence-based decision-making for sustainable land management practices in the region.

#### 4.2. Materials Used

List of Chemical	List of Instruments
Potassium dichromate 60 gram	pH Meter
Sulfuric acid 2.5 liters	Spade
Phosphoric acid 1.5 liter	Khurpi
Ferrous sulfate	Sample Containers
Diphenylamine	Tray
Distilled water 25 liters	Glass wares
Sodium hexametaphosphate	GPS

Table 1. List of chemicals and instruments used in this study:

#### 4.3. Sample Collection Methods

For this study, firstly the land use and land cover of each block of Purba Medinipur district is analyzed. False color composite imagery was acquired from satellite imagery datasets, such as Landsat or Sentinel, covering the study area during an appropriate time period. The false color composites were generated using bands that emphasize specific features like vegetation, water bodies, and built-up areas. This technique enabled us to visually differentiate the various land use patterns for selecting representative sampling sites. Then the soil sample site according to the land use pattern or land class, like cultivated area, current fallow area, forest area is selected and it is found that there is very few amounts of grazing land, fallow land and barren land. Field visits were conducted to collect soil samples from the pre-identified sample sites. At each location, soil samples were collected using an auger or soil corer at a depth of 0-15 cm, taking care to avoid any visible contamination or disturbance. Each sample was carefully labeled, and GPS coordinates were recorded for accurate geolocation. The soil samples were collected across different land use pattern form the six districts during the pre-kharif season, specifically from 5th march to 10th April 2023. The collected soil samples were carefully stored in airtight polythene bags for subsequent laboratory investigations. Before analysis, the samples were air-dried, initially crushed using a pestle and mortar, and then passed through a 2mm sieve.

Land use pattern	Sample No	Block Name	Latitude	Longitude
	1	Manbazar-11	22.935	86.657
Barren	2	Hura	23.310	86.649
	3	Bagmundi	23.194	86.050
	4	Raghunathpur-11	23.623	86.544
	5	Manbazar-11	22.934	86.657
Cultivated	6	Hura	23.310	86.649
	7	Bagmundi	23.194	86.051
	8	Raghunathpur-11	23.623	86.542
	9	Manbazar-11	22.934	86.657
Cultivated waste	10	Hura	23.310	86.648
	11	Bagmundi	23.195	86.050
	12	Raghunathpur-11	23.623	86.543
	13	Hura	23.310	86.649
Non cultivated	14	Manbazar-11	22.934	86.657
	15	Bagmundi	23.195	86.051
	16	Raghunathpur-11	23.624	86.544
	17	Manbazar-11	22.935	86.657
Pasture	18	Hura	23.310	86.649
	19	Bagmundi	23.194	86.051
	20	Raghunathpur-11	23.623	86.543

 Table 2. Soil Samples of Purulia District

Table 3. Soil Samples of Malda District

Land use pattern	Sample No	Block Name	Latitude	Longitude
	1	Bamongola	25.164	88.379
	2	Chanchal-1	25.367	88.081
Cultivated	3	Chanchal-11	25.328	88.048
	4	Kaliachak-11	24.933	88.046
	5	Gazol	25.211	88.188
	6	Manikchak	25.076	87.900
Cultivated waste	7	Kaliachak-1	24.888	88.026
	8	Kaliachak-11	24.920	88.045
	9	Bamongola	25.211	88.396
Fallow	10	Chanchal-11	25.323	88.033
	11	Gazol	25.203	88.182
	12	Manikchak	25.089	87.887
	13	Bamongola	25.138	88.445
Non oultivoted	14	Chanchal-1	25.393	88.010
INOII CUITIVATEU	15	Kaliachak-1	24.879	88.029
	16	Kaliachak-11	24.925	88.053
	17	Manikchak	25.070	87.899
Desture	18	Chanchal-1	25.381	88.075
Pasture	19	Chanchal-11	25.334	88.056
	20	Gazol	25.202	88.171

Land use pattern	Sample No	Block Name	Latitude	Longitude
Barren	1	Kaliganj	23.209	88.573
	2	Krishnanagar-1	23.275	88.442
	3	Nakashipara	23.617	88.381
	4	Kaliganj	23.209	88.573
Cultivated	5	Krishnanagar-1	23.276	88.442
	6	Krishnanagar-11	23.276	88.442
	7	Ranaghat-1	23.209	88.573
	8	Ranaghat-11	23.168	88.528
Cultivated waste	9	Ranaghat-1	23.208	88.574
	10	Ranaghat-11	23.167	88.528
Fallow	11	Ranaghat-1	23.209	88.572
	12	Tehatta-11	23.811	88.459
Forest	13	Nakashipara	23.619	88.383
	14	Kaliganj	23.209	88.572
Non cultivated	15	Krishnanagar-1	23.275	88.442
	16	Krishnanagar-11	23.276	88.442
	17	Tehatta-11	23.812	88.471
Desture	18	Nakashipara	23.691	88.386
Pasture	19	Krishnanagar-11	23.275	88.442
	20	Ranaghat-11	23.169	88.511

 Table 4. Soil Samples of Nadia District

 Table 5. Soil Samples of Paschim Medinipur District

Land use pattern	Sample No	Block name	Latitude	Longitude
	1	Sabong	22.150	87.703
	2	Kharagpur-1	22.319	87.459
Cultivated	3	Daspur-1	22.566	87.692
	4	Daspur-11	22.616	87.747
	5	Midnapore	22.449	87.323
	6	Garbeta-1	22.877	87.275
Fallow	7	Sabong	22.147	87.703
Fallow	8	Kharagpur-1	22.317	87.459
	9	Daspur-1	22.616	87.747
	10	Sabong	22.150	87.702
	11	Kharagpur-1	22.319	87.452
Non oultiveted	12	Daspur-1	22.565	87.692
Non cultivated	13	Daspur-11	22.616	87.747
	14	Keshpur	22.561	87.396
	15	Midnapore	22.452	87.326
	16	Garbeta-1	22.876	87.275
	17	Daspur-11	22.563	87.395
Pasture	18	Keshpur	22.561	87.396
	19	Midnapore	22.449	87.326
	20	Garbeta-1	22.878	87.275
Land use pattern	Sample No	Block name	Latitude	Longitude
------------------	--------------	----------------	----------	-----------
	1	Gangajal ghati	23.457	87.048
Barren	2	Saltora	23.529	87.933
	3	Sonamukhi	23.291	87.406
	4	Onda	23.129	87.211
	5	Gangajal ghati	23.455	87.055
	6	Saltora	23.527	87.934
Cultivoted	7	Bishnupur	23.053	87.313
Cultivated	8	Sonamukhi	23.300	87.418
	9	Megia	23.557	87.110
	10	Indus	23.150	87.631
	11	Onda	23.137	87.212
	12	Saltora	23.524	87.935
	13	Bishnupur	23.300	87.412
Non cultivated	14	Sonamukhi	23.292	87.405
	15	Megia	23.501	87.107
	16	Indus	23.151	87.632
	17	Onda	23.132	87.210
Desture	18	Bishnupur	23.054	87.312
rasture	19	Megia	23.561	87.104
	20	Indus	23.150	87.631

 Table 6. Soil Samples of Bankura District

 Table 7. Soil Samples of Purba Medinipur District

Land use pattern	Sample No	Block name	Latitude	Longitude
	1	Ramnagar 1	21.615	87.492
	2	Contai 1	21.697	87.793
Forest Area	3	Haldia	22.067	88.027
	4	Ramnagar1	21.621	87.512
	5	Haldia	22.058	88.033
	6	Khejuri 2	21.918	87.922
	7	Ramnagar 2	21.69	87.684
Crop Land (Pre Kharif)	8	Contai 2	21.785	87.848
	9	Pataspur 2	21.986	87.541
	10	Egra 1	21.860	87.523
Barren Land	11	Ramnagar 2	21.677	87.709
	12	Contai 1	21.728	87.750
Current Fellow (C	13	Haldia	22.118	88.005
Current Fallow (o	14	Nandigram 2	22.036	87.931
wonth's)	15	Chandipur	22.086	87.837
	16	Nandigram1	21.972	87.977
	17	Ramnagar 1	21.667	87.507
Fallow Land	18	Nandigram1	22.018	87.976
	19	Sutahata	22.140	88.089
	20	Egra 2	21.879	87.662

## 4.4. Soil Test Methods

**Determination of Organic Carbon:** The estimation of soil organic carbon followed the method proposed by Walkley and Black in 1934. In this procedure, 1 grams of soil were mixed with a solution comprising 10 ml of 1N K2Cr2O7 and 20 ml of concentrated H2SO4 (96% pure). The mixture was allowed to react for 30 minutes. Subsequently, 200 ml of water and 10 ml of orthophosphoric acid were added and stirred into the mixture. Then, 1 ml of diphenylamine was added and stirred as well. The titration process involved using 0.5N Ferrous ammonium sulphatic [Fe (NH4)2 (SO4)2] solution until the blue color just changed to green color. To account for any potential background interference, a blank reading was also taken.

**Determination Soil pH:** Soil pH is measured by pH meter containing glass and reference electrode and marked pH scale from 0-14. The mid-point 7.0 of this scale is neutral, below this denotes acidity and above this denotes alkalinity, pH meter is standardized with the help of buffer solutions of known pH and then the pH of the solution is determined.

**Soil Texture Analysis "The Jar Test":** The soil texture test method, commonly known as the jar test, is a simple yet effective technique used to determine the relative proportions of sand, silt, and clay in a soil sample. In this method, a soil-water mixture is prepared in a clear glass jar, allowing the particles to settle according to their size and weight. After filling the jar with soil and water, the mixture is vigorously shaken to ensure thorough dispersion. Once shaken, the jar is set aside, allowing the soil particles to settle over time. Due to their different settling rates, the sand settles first, followed by silt, and then clay. By observing the distinct layers formed after a sufficient resting period, the soil texture can be determined by measuring the depth of each layer relative to the total depth.

**Chapter 5: Results** 

## 5. Results

Following are the test results of 6 districts: Purulia, Malda, Nadia, Paschim Medinipur, Bankura, and Purba Medinipur. The NDVI values for the past 20 years have been calculated using Landsat and Sentinel satellite data for each district in 2023 and 2003. Soil samples were also collected from various land use patterns in each district and analyzed in the laboratory to determine soil characteristics, including soil texture, soil pH, and soil organic carbon content. Additionally, statistical measures such as mean, standard deviation, and coefficient of variation (CV) were calculated to assess the variability of these soil parameters across different land use patterns.

## 5.1. Results of Purulia District

### NDVI of Purulia 2003 and 2023 (Pre-Kharif Season):

Over the span of two decades, the examination of the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) has provided valuable insights into the vegetation dynamics of Purulia district. In 2003, the NDVI analysis showcased the dense and sprawling forests of Ayodhya Hills and the enchanting Bamni Falls Forest were prominent areas displaying high NDVI values, indicative of flourishing forest cover and thriving biodiversity. the fertile agricultural lands of Adra and the terraced fields of Barabazar exhibited a different NDVI pattern, representing cultivated lands with moderate to high vegetation activity, typical of the agricultural landscape. In 2023, and the updated NDVI results offer valuable information about the changes in vegetation over the years. While Ayodhya Hills and Bamni Falls Forest have managed to maintain their green canopy, certain forested areas have encountered challenges due to anthropogenic activities and urban expansion. Particularly, some outskirts of Adra have witnessed infrastructural development and residential



#### Figure 9. NDVI of Purulia, 2003



Figure 8. NDVI of Purulia, 2023

expansion, causing the transformation of previously forested regions into urban

settlements, impacting their NDVI values. Similarly, the once predominantly agricultural lands around Barabazar have experienced changes, with certain areas being converted into industrial zones or other non-vegetated land uses, leading to alterations in the overall NDVI landscape.

Land use pattern	Sample No	рН	<b>O.</b> C	Soil texture
	1	6	0.51	Silt
Barren	2	7.4	0.61	Sandy loam
	3	5.5	0.46	Silt
	4	5.4	0.48	Silty loam
	5	6.1	0.59	Loam
Cultivated	6	5	0.66	Loam
	7	4.7	0.47	Loam
	8	5.3	0.49	Silty loam
	9	5.9	0.53	Silty loam
Cultivated waste	10	6.6	0.63	Silty loam
	11	5.4	0.42	Loam
	12	5.6	0.43	Silty loam
	13	6.7	0.56	Silt
Non cultivated	14	7.8	0.65	Silt
	15	5.8	0.45	Silty loam
	16	5.3	0.47	Silt
	17	6.7	0.54	Silty loam
Pasture	18	5.7	0.64	Silty loam
	19	6	0.44	Silty loam
	20	5.5	0.45	Silty clay

Table 8. Soil Test Results of Purulia District

Table 9. Statistical analysis of Purulia District

L and Use Dettern	pH			O.		
Land Use Pattern	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV
Barren	6.075	0.758	12.47	0.515	0.0655	12.73
Cultivated	5.775	0.636	11.01	0.5775	0.0844	14.61
Cultivated waste	5.875	0.566	9.64	0.5275	0.0932	17.66
Non cultivated	6.65	1.245	18.71	0.5575	0.0882	15.82
Pasture	5.975	0.599	10.02	0.5175	0.0927	17.92

**Barren Land:** Barren land samples exhibit a pH range of 6.0 to 7.4, with a mean pH of 6.075. The organic carbon (O.C.) content ranges from 0.46% to 0.61%, with a mean value of 0.515%. The predominant soil textures observed in barren land are silt and sandy loam. The coefficient of variation (CV) indicates moderate variation in both pH (12.47%) and O.C. (12.73%) within the barren land samples.

**Cultivated Land:** Cultivated land samples display a pH range of 4.7 to 6.1, with a mean pH of 5.775. The O.C. content ranges from 0.47% to 0.66%, with a mean value of 0.5775%. The dominant soil texture observed in cultivated land is loam, with some samples displaying silty loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (11.01%) and O.C. (14.61%) within the cultivated land samples.





**Cultivated Waste Land:** Cultivated waste land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.4 to 6.6, with a mean pH of 5.875. The O.C. content ranges from 0.42% to 0.63%, with a mean value of 0.5275%. The predominant soil texture observed in cultivated waste land is silty loam. The CV values indicate relatively low variation in pH (9.64%) and moderate variation in O.C. (17.66%) within the cultivated waste land samples.



Figure 11. Soil Organic Carbon of Purulia

**Non-cultivated Land:** Non-cultivated land samples display a pH range of 5.8 to 7.8, with a mean pH of 6.65. The O.C. content ranges from 0.45% to 0.65%, with a mean value of 0.5575%. The predominant soil texture observed in non-cultivated land is silt. The CV values indicate moderate variation in pH (18.71%) and O.C. (15.82%) within the non-cultivated land samples.

**Pasture Land:** Pasture land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.5 to 6.7, with a mean pH of 5.975. The O.C. content ranges from 0.44% to 0.64%, with a mean value of 0.5175%. The predominant soil texture observed in pasture land is silty loam, with one sample displaying silty clay. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (10.02%) and O.C. (17.92%) within the pasture land samples.

### **5.2. Results of Malda District**

NDVI of Malda 2003 and 2023 (Pre-Kharif Season): Malda district has experienced notable changes in its land use pattern, primarily influenced by factors like population growth, agricultural practices, and industrialization. In 2003, the NDVI analysis revealed distinct patterns across various locations within the district. The expansive and verdant forests of Gour and the picturesque Chanchal Forests were notable areas with dense vegetation cover, reflecting high NDVI values indicative of healthy forest ecosystems. The fertile agricultural lands of Harish Chandrapur and the green fields of Bamangola displayed a different NDVI pattern, signifying cultivated areas with moderate to high vegetation activity, characteristic of the region's agricultural landscape. By 2023, some regions around Harish Chandrapur have witnessed urban expansion and agricultural intensification, leading to the conversion of forested lands into residential areas or farmlands, resulting in alterations to their NDVI values. Additionally, the once extensive agricultural lands of



Figure 13. NDVI of Malda, 2003



Figure 12. NDVI of Malda, 2023

Bamangola have experienced changes, with certain areas being transformed into industrial zones or other non-vegetated land uses, impacting the overall NDVI landscape. The expansion of agricultural land, there has been a rise in the establishment of agroindustries and food processing units in the region. The fertile land and abundant produce of Malda have attracted investors to set up agro-based businesses, leading to the transformation of rural areas into semi-urban zones. Over the past 20 years, Malda district has experienced a decrease in natural vegetation, particularly forests and trees. Additionally, the practice of pre-kharif cultivation has also witnessed a decline during this period.

Land use pattern	Sample No	рН	<b>0.</b> C	Soil texture
	1	5.4	0.45	Clay loam
	2	6.1	0.55	Clay loam
Cultivated	3	6.2	0.52	Clay loam
	4	6.6	0.48	Loam
	5	6.6	0.47	Loam
	6	5.5	0.47	Clay loam
Cultiveted weste	7	6.3	0.5	Sandy loam
Cultivated waste	8	6.2	0.49	Sandy loam
	9	5.3	0.5	Sandy clay
Fallow	10	6.4	0.53	Sand
	11	5.6	0.49	Sandy clay
	12	5	0.67	Sandy loam
	13	5.8	0.49	Sand
Non cultivated	14	6.3	0.57	Sandy loam
Non cultivated	15	6.7	0.49	Sand
	16	6.9	0.48	Sand
	17	5.7	0.65	Sand
Desture	18	6	0.59	Sandy clay
Pasture	19	6.1	0.54	Sandy clay
	20	5.1	0.5	Sandy loam

Table 10. Soil Test Results of Malda District

Table 11. S	Statistical	analysis	of Malda	District
-------------	-------------	----------	----------	----------

Land Use Pattern	pH			O.C %		
	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV
Cultivated	5.8	0.482	8.31	0.495	0.041	8.28
Cultivated waste	6.25	0.0566	0.906	0.495	0.007	1.414
Fallow	5.575	0.6041	10.85	0.5475	0.0862	15.75
Non cultivated	6.28	0.678	10.8	0.536	0.0801	14.93
Pasture	5.733	0.553	9.654	0.543	0.0453	8.345

**Cultivated Land:** Cultivated land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.4 to 6.6, with a mean pH of 5.8. The organic carbon (O.C.) content ranges from 0.45% to 0.55%, with a mean



Figure 14. Soil pH of Malda

value of 0.495%. The predominant soil texture observed in cultivated land is clay loam and loam. The coefficient of variation (CV) indicates moderate variation in both pH (8.31%) and O.C. (8.28%) within the cultivated land samples.

**Cultivated Waste Land:** Cultivated waste land samples display a relatively narrow pH range of 6.2 to 6.3, with a mean pH of 6.25. The O.C. content ranges from 0.49% to 0.5%, with a mean value of 0.495%. The dominant soil texture observed in cultivated waste land is sandy loam. The CV values indicate low variation in pH (0.906%) and very low variation in O.C. (1.414%) within the cultivated waste land samples.



Figure 15. Soil Organic Carbon of Malda

**Fallow Land:** Fallow land samples exhibit a pH range of 5 to 6.4, with a mean pH of 5.575. The O.C. content ranges from 0.49% to 0.67%, with a mean value of 0.5475%. The predominant soil textures observed in fallow land are sandy clay and sandy loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (10.85%) and O.C. (15.75%) within the fallow land samples.

**Non-cultivated Land:** Non-cultivated land samples display a pH range of 5.7 to 6.9, with a mean pH of 6.28. The O.C. content ranges from 0.48% to 0.678%, with a mean value of 0.536%. The dominant soil texture observed in non-cultivated land is sand. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (10.8%) and O.C. (14.93%) within the non-cultivated land samples.

**Pasture Land:** Pasture land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.1 to 6.1, with a mean pH of 5.733. The O.C. content ranges from 0.54% to 0.59%, with a mean value of 0.543%. The dominant soil texture observed in pasture land is sandy clay. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (9.654%) and O.C. (8.345%) within the pasture land samples

## 5.3. Results of Nadia District

**NDVI of Nadia 2003 and 2023 (Pre-Kharif Season):** The analysis of NDVI (Normalized Difference Vegetation Index) results for Nadia district in 2003 and 2023

reveals significant changes in the region's vegetation over the past two decades.

In 2003, the NDVI analysis showcased distinct patterns across various locations within the district. The lush and expansive Krishnagar Forest, along with the enchanting woodlands of Bethuadahari Wildlife Sanctuary, were prominent areas displaying high NDVI values, indicating dense forest cover and thriving biodiversity. Conversely, the fertile plains of Tehatta and the agricultural fields of Chapra exhibited a different NDVI pattern, representing cultivated lands with moderate to



Figure 16. NDVI of Nadia, 2003

high vegetation activity, typical of the agricultural landscape.

In 2023, the updated NDVI results provide critical information about the changes in vegetation cover over the years. While Krishnagar Forest and Bethuadahari Wildlife Sanctuary have managed to maintain their greenery, certain forested areas have faced challenges due to urbanization and developmental activities. Notably, the outskirts of Krishnagar have experienced expansion as suburban settlements, causing the transformation of some forested regions into residential areas. Similarly, the once predominantly agricultural lands of Tehatta have undergone changes, with some



Figure 17. NDVI of Nadia, 2023

areas converted into commercial zones or industrial establishments, altering their NDVI values.

Land use pattern	Sample No	рН	O.C %	Soil Texture
Domon	1	5.6	0.39	Silty clay
Darren	2	6.3	0.46	Sandy loam
	3	5.2	0.66	Clay loam
	4	5.5	0.58	Sandy clay
Cultivated	5	5.7	0.42	Clay
	6	6.2	0.57	Silty loam
	7	6.5	0.58	Sandy loam
	8	6.6	0.45	Sandy loam
Cultiveted weste	9	6.3	0.57	Silty clay
Cultivated waste	10	6.9	0.55	Clay
Fallow	11	6.2	0.62	Loam
Fallow	12	5.9	0.62	Clay loam
Forest	13	5.4	0.68	Clay
	14	5.8	0.38	Sandy loam
Non cultivated	15	6.1	0.45	Loam
	16	6.8	0.42	Sandy clay
	17	5.9	0.48	Silty clay
Desture	18	5.6	0.69	Loam
rasture	19	6.5	0.48	Clay loam
	20	5.3	0.59	Sandy loam

 Table 12. Soil Test Results of Nadia District

Land Use Dettern	рН			O.C%		
	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV
Barren	5.95	0.57	9.51	0.43	0.06	13.30
Cultivated	5.78	0.49	8.50	0.55	0.08	14.67
Cultivated waste	6.60	0.42	6.44	0.56	0.01	1.27
Fallow	6.05	0.21	3.50	0.62	0.00	0.00
Forest	5.40	0.00	0.00	0.68	0.00	0.00
Non cultivated	6.15	0.45	7.36	0.43	0.04	9.64
Pasture	5.80	0.58	9.96	0.59	0.10	17.68

Table 13. Statistical analysis of Nadia District

**Barren Land:** The pH of barren land ranges from 5.6 to 6.3, with a mean pH of 5.95. The organic carbon content (O.C.) ranges from 0.39% to 0.46%, with a mean value of 0.43%. The soil texture predominantly observed in barren land is silty clay. The coefficient of variation (CV) indicates moderate variation in both pH (9.51%) and O.C. (13.30%) within barren land samples.

**Cultivated Land:** Cultivated land displays a pH range from 5.2 to 6.6, with a mean pH of 5.78. The O.C. content ranges from 0.42% to 0.66%, with a mean value of 0.55%. The



### Figure 18. Soil pH of Nadia

soil texture varies across the cultivated land samples, including clay loam, sandy clay, clay, and silty loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (8.50%) and O.C. (14.67%) within cultivated land samples.

**Cultivated Waste Land:** The cultivated waste land exhibits a relatively narrow pH range of 6.3 to 6.9, with a mean pH of 6.60. The O.C. content ranges from 0.42% to 0.57%, with a mean value of 0.56%. The dominant soil textures observed in cultivated waste land

are silty clay and clay. The CV values indicate relatively low variation in both pH (6.44%) and O.C. (1.27%) within cultivated waste land samples.



Figure 19. Soil Organic Carbon of Nadia

**Fallow Land:** Fallow land shows a pH range of 5.9 to 6.2, with a mean pH of 6.05. The O.C. content is relatively consistent, ranging from 0.62%. The soil texture of fallow land is predominantly loam and clay loam. The CV values indicate low variation in both pH (3.50%) and O.C. (0.00%) within fallow land samples.

**Forest Land:** The forest land data displays a pH value of 5.4, indicating slightly acidic conditions. The O.C. content is constant at 0.68%. The soil texture observed in forest land is clay. The CV values indicate low variation in both pH (0.00%) and O.C. (0.00%) within forest land samples.

**Non-cultivated Land:** Non-cultivated land exhibits a pH range from 5.8 to 6.8, with a mean pH of 6.15. The O.C. content ranges from 0.38% to 0.48%, with a mean value of 0.43%. The dominant soil textures observed in non-cultivated land are sandy loam and silty clay. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (7.36%) and O.C. (9.64%) within non-cultivated land samples.

**Pasture Land:** Pasture land displays a pH range from 5.3 to 6.5, with a mean pH of 5.80. The O.C. content ranges from 0.48% to 0.69%, with a mean value of 0.59%. The soil texture predominantly observed in pasture land is loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (9.96%) and O.C. (17.68%) within pasture land samples

## 5.4. Results of Paschim Medinipur District

NDVI of Paschim Medinipur 2003 and 2023 (Pre-Kharif Season): Over the span of two decades, the analysis of the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) has

provided valuable insights into the vegetation dynamics of Pachim Medinipur district, a region known for its diverse landscapes and agricultural significance.

In 2003, the NDVI assessment revealed distinct patterns across various locations within the district. The dense and biodiverse forests of Jhargram and the picturesque Salboni Forest Reserve were notable areas with high NDVI values, indicative of thriving forest cover and ecological richness. The agricultural heartlands of Kharagpur and the fertile fields of

Midnapore displayed a different NDVI pattern,



Figure 20. NDVI of Paschim Medinipur, 2003

signifying cultivated lands with moderate to high vegetation activity, characteristic of the region's agricultural landscape.

2023, and the updated NDVI results shed light on the changes in vegetation over the years. While Jhargram and Salboni Forest Reserve have managed to sustain their greenery, certain forested areas have faced challenges encroachment due to human and infrastructural development. Specifically, some outskirts of Kharagpur have witnessed urban expansion, leading to the transformation of previously forested regions into residential or commercial zones, impacting their NDVI values. Additionally, certain



Figure 21. NDVI of Paschim Medinipur, 2023

agricultural lands around Midnapore have undergone changes, with the conversion of some areas into industrial hubs, altering the overall NDVI landscape.

Land use Pattern	Sample No	рН	<b>0.</b> C	Soil texture
	1	6	0.56	Loam
	2	5.6	0.41	Sand
Cultivated	3	6	0.45	Loam
	4	6	0.4	Loam
	5	6.2	0.41	Loam
	6	5.8	0.59	Sandy loam
Fallow	7	5.8	0.55	Sandy loam
Fallow	8	5.2	0.46	Sand
	9	5	0.46	Sandy loam
	10	6.6	0.54	Sand
	11	5.5	0.48	Silt
Non oultiveted	12	5.8	0.42	Sand
Non cuntvated	13	5.6	0.47	Sand
	14	6.1	0.46	Sand
	15	5.6	0.58	Silt
	16	5.1	0.57	Sand
	17	5.4	0.45	Sandy loam
Pasture	18	6	0.43	Silt
	19	5.7	0.54	Sand
	20	5.2	0.58	Silt

 Table 14. Soil Test Results of Paschim Medinipur District

Table 15. Statistical analysis of Paschim Medinipur District

Land Use Pattern	рН			OC %		
	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV
Cultivated	5.93	0.25	4.16	0.48	0.08	16.27
Fallow	5.67	0.42	7.47	0.49	0.05	9.61
Non cultivated	5.73	0.54	9.48	0.51	0.06	11.85
Pasture	5.58	0.36	6.41	0.50	0.06	12.72



Figure 22. Soil pH of Paschim Medinipur.

**Cultivated Land:** Cultivated land samples show a pH range of 5.6 to 6.2, with a mean pH of 5.93. The O.C. content ranges from 0.4% to 0.59%, with a mean value of 0.48%. The dominant soil texture observed in cultivated land is loam. The coefficient of variation (CV) indicates moderate variation in both pH (4.16%) and O.C. (16.27%) within the cultivated land samples.

**Fallow Land:** Fallow land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.2 to 5.8, with a mean pH of 5.67. The O.C. content ranges from 0.46% to 0.55%, with a mean value of 0.49%. The predominant soil texture observed in fallow land is sandy loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in pH (7.47%) and relatively low variation in O.C. (9.61%) within the fallow land samples.



Figure 23. Soil Organic Carbon of Paschim Medinipur

**Non-cultivated Land:** Non-cultivated land samples display a pH range of 5.1 to 6.6, with a mean pH of 5.73. The O.C. content ranges from 0.42% to 0.58%, with a mean value of 0.51%. The dominant soil texture observed in non-cultivated land is sand. The CV values indicate moderate variation in pH (9.48%) and O.C. (11.85%) within the non-cultivated land samples.

**Pasture Land:** Pasture land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.2 to 6, with a mean pH of 5.58. The O.C. content ranges from 0.43% to 0.54%, with a mean value of 0.50%. The predominant soil textures observed in pasture land are sandy loam and silt. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (6.41%) and O.C. (12.72%) within the pasture land samples.

## 5.5. Results of Bankura District

NDVI of Nadia 2003 and 2023 (Pre-Kharif Season): Over the span of two decades, the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) has provided valuable insights into the

vegetation dynamics of Bankura district, a region known for its diverse landscapes and ecological significance. Utilizing NDVI data, which indicates the health and density of vegetation, we can observe these changes from 2003 to 2023.

In 2003, the NDVI analysis revealed a striking contrast between different areas within the district. Lush green forests, such as the enchanting Chhander Hill Forest and the serene Mukutmanipur Forest, stood out as regions with high NDVI values, indicative of dense vegetation

cover and thriving biodiversity. Meanwhile, agricultural



Figure 24. NDVI of Bankura 2003

lands like the fertile plains of Bishnupur and the picturesque terraced fields of Susunia displayed a different NDVI pattern. These cultivated lands exhibited moderate to high NDVI values, reflecting the presence of healthy crops and vegetation typical of an agrarian landscape.

2023, and the NDVI results continue to offer valuable information about the changes in

vegetation over the years. While the forests of Chhander Hill and Mukutmanipur have managed to sustain their rich greenery, the ever-increasing human population and developmental activities have taken a toll on some forested regions.

Notably, some previously forested areas have undergone significant changes, giving way to expanding urban centers like Bishnupur and Bankura town itself. Additionally, certain agricultural lands have transformed into industrial zones or other non-vegetated land uses, leading to alterations in their NDVI values.



Figure 25. NDVI of Bankura 2023

Land use pattern	Sample No	рН	<b>0.</b> C	Soil texture
	1	6	0.53	Sandy loam
Barren	2	6	0.66	Clay loam
	3	6.3	0.49	Sandy clay
	4	6.2	0.61	Sand
	5	6.2	0.59	Clay loam
	6	7.1	0.51	Sandy clay
Cultivoted	7	6.3	0.65	Sandy clay
Cultivated	8	5.6	0.46	Clay loam
	9	5.9	0.47	Sandy loam
	10	6.4	0.45	Loam
	11	6.3	0.62	Sandy
	12	6.4	0.56	Clay
	13	7.3	0.54	Clay
Non cultivated	14	5.4	0.63	Clay
	15	7.1	0.43	Clay loam
	16	6.5	0.49	Sandy loam
	17	6.6	0.65	Sandy clay
Desture	18	5.8	0.42	Sandy clay
Pasture	19	7	0.48	clay
	20	6.8	0.47	Clay loam

Table 16. Soil Test Results of Bankura District

Table 17. Statistical analysis of Bankura District

Land Use Pattern	рН			O.C %			
	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV	
Barren	6.125	0.1414	2.31	0.5725	0.0683	11.93	
Cultivated	6.1714	0.4435	7.18	0.5429	0.0756	13.93	
Non cultivated	6.45	0.7166	11.11	0.5583	0.0859	15.39	
Pasture	6.5333	0.6467	9.9	0.4567	0.0289	6.33	



Figure 26. Soil pH of Bankura

**Barren Land:** Barren land samples exhibit a pH range of 6 to 6.3, with a mean pH of 6.125. The O.C. content ranges from 0.49% to 0.66%, with a mean value of 0.5725%. The dominant soil textures observed in barren land are sandy loam and clay loam. The coefficient of variation (CV) indicates low variation in pH (2.31%) and moderate variation in O.C. (11.93%) within the barren land samples.

**Cultivated Land:** Cultivated land samples show a pH range of 5.6 to 7.1, with a mean pH of 6.1714. The O.C. content ranges from 0.45% to 0.65%, with a mean value of 0.5429%. The dominant soil textures observed in cultivated land are clay loam, sandy clay, sandy loam, and loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (7.18%) and O.C. (13.93%) within the cultivated land samples.

**Non-cultivated Land:** Non-cultivated land samples display a pH range of 5.4 to 7.3, with a mean pH of 6.45. The O.C. content ranges from 0.43% to 0.7166%, with a mean value of 0.5583%. The dominant soil textures observed in non-cultivated land are clay and clay loam. The CV values indicate moderate variation in both pH (11.11%) and O.C. (15.39%) within the non-cultivated land samples.

**Pasture Land:** Pasture land samples exhibit a pH range of 5.8 to 7, with a mean pH of 6.5333. The O.C. content ranges from 0.42% to 0.48%, with a mean value of 0.4567%. The dominant soil textures observed in pasture land are sandy clay and clay loam. The CV values indicate low variation in pH (9.9%) and relatively low variation in O.C. (6.33%) within the pasture land samples



Figure 27. Soil Organic Carbon of Bankura

### 5.6. Results of Purba Medinipur District

**NDVI of Purba Medinipur 2003, 2013 and 2023 (Pre-Kharif Season):** The Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) is a critical tool used to monitor

changes in vegetation over time. The NDVI results for Purba Medinipur district in the years 2003, 2013 and 2023, focusing on pre-kharif cultivation, conversion of cropland to fishing pond, and the decline of natural vegetation is analyzed below. The land use pattern in Purba Medinipur district has undergone significant changes over the past two decades, evident through the analysis of Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) data of 2003, 2013 and 2023.

In 2003, NDVI imagery showed vast expanses of lush green vegetation, indicating extensive agricultural land use in the region. Pre-kharif Rice cultivated fields, and other crops dominated the landscape, reflecting the

district's agrarian economy. Light green color represents natural vegetation, such as dense forests and trees ware present, indicating a healthy and ecologically diverse environment.

Red color representing river and water body.

Fast forward to 2013, the NDVI imagery started revealing subtle shifts in the land use pattern. Urban areas and settlements began to encroach upon agricultural land, resulting in a decrease in overall green vegetation but slight increase in pre-kharif cultivation. The expansion of residential and commercial areas was clearly visible, leading to a reduction in the once-dominant agricultural zones. The number of fishing ponds had started to increase. This finding indicated a shift in land use practices, possibly



influenced by changing economic and environmental <sup>Figure 29. NDVI of Purba Medinipur, 2013</sup> factors. As the region experienced urbanization and alterations in agricultural practices,

Figure 28. NDVI of Purba Medinipur, 2013



47

some farmers might have explored alternative sources of income, leading to the establishment of more fishing ponds.

By the year 2023, the land use pattern in Purba Medinipur district experienced a more profound transformation. The pre-kharif cultivation areas had significantly reduced due to

the continued expansion of built-up areas, urban sprawl, and industrial growth. It has been observed that there is a significant decrease in pre-kharif cultivation in Purba Medinipur compared to other districts in West Bengal. Despite this decline, Purba Medinipur remains one of the districts with the highest pre-kharif cultivation. In the south-western part of Purba Medinipur, particularly in Ramnagar 1 and Egra 1 blocks, there has been a significant increase in vegetation over the past 20 years. By ground survey, it has been confirmed that this increase is primarily due to the expansion of cashew nut plantations in the region.



Figure 30. NDVI of Purba Medinipur, 2023

Cashew nut plants have been increasingly cultivated, contributing to the overall rise in vegetation in the area. NDVI images revealed a decline in the density of green areas, indicating the decline of natural vegetation coverage like forests and trees. With a growing population and economic activities, there have been increased pressure on the land, leading to a decrease in fallow lands and their conversion into developed spaces. The data also revealed a gradual rise in the number of fishing ponds from 2013 to 2023. As traditional agricultural practices shifted and land use diversified, farmers have explored alternative sources of income, leading to the development of more fishing ponds for aquaculture.

Additionally, deforestation and the conversion of green areas into non-vegetated land or barren land contributed to the observable changes in NDVI imagery. The district's growth and development have led to a decline in the quality of the environment and ecosystems, warranting a closer examination of sustainable land use practices for future planning.

Overall, the evolution of Purba Medinipur's land use pattern between 2003 and 2023, as depicted by NDVI data, highlights the complex interplay between urbanization, industrialization, and agriculture.

Land use pattern	Sample No	Soil pH	Organic Carbon (%)	Soil Texture	
Forest	1	7.62	0.62	Sand	
	2	7.49	0.57	Sand	
	3	7.41	0.96	Clay	
	4	7.33	0.67	Sand	
	5	7.52	0.99	Clay	
Cropped Land (Pre Kharif)	6	6.62	1.16	Clay	
	7	6.41	1.24	Clay	
	8	5.78	1.19	Clay	
	9	7.3	1.12	Clay Loam	
	10	5.9	1.09	Clay Loam	
Barren	11	7.67	0.49	Sandy Clay	
Current Fallow (6 months)	12	4.99	0.64	Clay Loam	
	13	4.96	0.86	Clay	
	14	5.21	0.73	Clay	
	15	5.79	0.78	Clay	
	16	4.43	0.53	Clay	
Fallow Land	17	6.93	0.68	Sandy Loam	
	18	6.02	0.93	Clay	
	19	6.27	0.85	Clay	
	20	6.13	0.66	Clay Loam	

Table 18. Soil Test results of Purba Medinipur District

······································
--

Land Use Pattern	рН			O.C%		
	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV
Forest	7.47	0.10	1.32	0.76	0.18	23.23
Cropped Land	6.40	0.55	8.54	1.16	0.05	4.53
Barren	7.67	0.00	0.00	0.49	0.00	0.00
Current Fallow	5.08	0.33	6.57	0.71	0.11	16.11
Fallow	6.34	0.35	5.58	0.78	0.11	2.04

The land use pattern in the study area consists of four different types: Forest, Cropped Land (Pre Kharif), Barren, and Fallow Land. Each land use type has been sampled multiple times to analyze soil properties such as pH, Organic Carbon (O.C%) content, and Soil Texture.

**Forest:** The soil samples taken from the forest area had a mean pH value of 7.47 with a standard deviation (SD) of 0.10. The coefficient of variation (CV) for pH was relatively low at 1.32%, indicating a relatively stable pH across the forest samples. The mean Organic Carbon content was 0.76%, with an SD of 0.18, resulting in a CV of 23.23%. The soil texture in the forest area was predominantly sandy, indicating the presence of

sand particles. The soil samples taken from the sandy soil in coastal forests showed a lower organic carbon content. The forest samples collected from Haldia, characterized by clay soil texture, exhibited a higher organic carbon content



Figure 31. Soil PH of Purba Medinipur District

**Cropped Land (Pre Kharif):** In the cropped land area, the mean pH value was 6.40, and the SD was 0.55. The CV for pH was 8.54%, The mean Organic Carbon content in the cropped land was 1.16%, with an SD of 0.05 and a CV of 4.53%. The soil texture was mostly clay, suggesting a higher percentage of clay particles in the soil.



Figure 32. Soil Organic Carbon of Purba Medinipur District

**Barren Land:** The barren land had a mean pH value of 7.67, The barren area had a very low organic carbon content of 0.49%, indicating poor soil fertility. The soil texture in this area was classified as sandy clay,

**Current Fallow (6 months):** The current fallow land is the cultivable land which is left fallow after past kharif cultivation. The current fallow land had a mean pH value of 5.08 and an SD of 0.33. The CV for pH was 6.57%, suggesting moderate variability in pH levels. The mean Organic Carbon content in this area was 0.71%, with an SD of 0.11 and a CV of 16.11%. The soil texture in the current fallow area was primarily clay loam.

**Fallow Land:** The fallow land had a mean pH value of 6.34, with an SD of 0.35. The CV for pH was 5.58%, The mean Organic Carbon content was 0.78%, with an SD of 0.11, resulting in a CV of 2.04%. The soil texture in the fallow land was predominantly clay.

**Chapter 6: Discussion** 

## 6. Discussion:

The laboratory tests conducted on soil samples collected from different land use patterns in six different districts have provided valuable insights into the various environmental factors and their impact on the respective regions. The results obtained from these tests reveal significant differences in soil texture, soil pH, soil organic carbon among the districts.

**Purulia district:** The analysis on different land use patterns of soil samples in Purulia district reveals significant variations in pH and organic carbon content, along with the dominant soil types in each land use category. The study shows that barren land in the region generally exhibits moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content, with a prevalence of silt and sandy loam soils. This indicates that the barren land might have undergone weathering processes, leading to the accumulation of fine particles such as silt and sand. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content suggests that these areas may have limited organic matter input, resulting in a relatively stable soil environment.

On the other hand, cultivated land in Purulia district displays moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content, with a dominance of loam soil. Loam soils are a well-balanced mixture of sand, silt, and clay, making them highly suitable for agriculture. The moderate variation in pH could be attributed to the use of different agricultural practices and fertilizers, while the presence of organic carbon indicates the presence of organic matter from crop residues and other inputs.

Cultivated waste land, in contrast, shows relatively low variation in pH and moderate variation in organic carbon content, predominantly comprising silty loam soil. The lower variation in pH might be due to the continued disturbance and degradation of the land, leading to a more uniform soil condition. The presence of moderate organic carbon content suggests that despite being waste land, there is some level of organic matter input, possibly from previous agricultural activities or natural organic debris.

Non-cultivated land in Purulia district exhibits moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content, primarily composed of silt soil. The prevalence of silt soil might be related to the specific geological characteristics of the area, such as weathering of rock materials rich in silt. The moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content

suggests that these areas have maintained a relatively stable soil condition with limited anthropogenic disturbance.

Pasture land in the region demonstrates moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content, with a predominance of silty loam soil and one sample of silty clay soil. Silty loam soils are well-draining and fertile, making them suitable for pasture and grazing activities. The presence of silty clay soil in one sample might be indicative of localized variations in soil types within the pasture land. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content suggests that these areas are influenced by both natural processes and human activities, such as grazing and management practices.

The district's geological formations, including laterite soils and red soils, play a crucial role in determining soil properties. Laterite soils, which are common in the region, tend to have low pH levels due to their iron and aluminum-rich nature. Red soils, on the other hand, may have varying pH levels depending on their weathering history. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content in cultivated and cultivated waste land may result from different agricultural practices, such as the use of chemical fertilizers and crop residues. These practices can influence soil acidity and organic matter accumulation. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in different land use categories may also be influenced by land management practices, such as irrigation, drainage, and soil conservation methods. These practices can affect soil properties and organic matter content. On-cultivated land with silt soil may be influenced by the natural vegetation cover, which contributes to organic matter input and soil stability. Soil erosion in certain areas may also lead to the deposition of silt in non-cultivated land. Pasture land, which shows moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content, is likely influenced by human activities such as grazing and management practices. These activities can lead to localized variations in soil characteristics.

**Malda district:** The analysis of different land use patterns in Malda district reveals variations in pH, organic carbon content (O.C.), and soil texture across various land use categories. The land use categories include cultivated, cultivated waste, fallow, non-cultivated, and pasture lands. Each land use category is associated with specific soil

characteristics, which can provide valuable insights into the agricultural practices and environmental conditions in the region.

Cultivated land in Malda district predominantly consists of clay loam and loam soils. These soils generally display moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content. The moderate variation in pH may be attributed to the agricultural practices, including the use of fertilizers and irrigation practices, which can influence the soil acidity. The presence of organic carbon in cultivated lands indicates the input of organic matter from crop residues and agricultural activities.

Cultivated waste land in Malda district is characterized by sandy loam soil, and it exhibits low variation in pH and very low variation in organic carbon content. The low variation in pH could be due to the land's abandonment and lack of regular organic matter inputs. Sandy loam soil, with its sandy texture, tends to have lower nutrient-holding capacity, which contributes to the very low variation in organic carbon content.

Fallow land, on the other hand, displays moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content, with soil textures ranging from sandy clay to sandy loam. The moderate variation in pH may be related to the previous agricultural practices and the management during the fallow period. Sandy clay soils tend to retain more water and nutrients compared to sandy loam soils, which can influence the variation in organic carbon content.

Non-cultivated land in Malda district primarily comprises sandy soils. These sandy soils exhibit moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content. The variations in pH and organic carbon content could be influenced by natural soil formation processes and weathering, with sandy soils generally having lower fertility and nutrient-holding capacity.

Pasture land in Malda district is mainly composed of sandy clay soil. It displays moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content. The moderate variation in pH may be influenced by both natural processes and land management practices, such as grazing. Sandy clay soil, with better water retention properties compared to sandy soils, supports pasture vegetation in the sandy region.

Malda district is likely to have alluvial and sedimentary deposits, contributing to the prevalence of sandy soils in the region. Sandy soils generally have low nutrient-holding capacity and water retention, leading to variations in pH and organic carbon content. The

variations in pH and organic carbon content in cultivated and fallow lands are likely influenced by the agricultural practices in the region. The use of fertilizers and irrigation practices in cultivated lands and the management during the fallow period can impact soil characteristics. The low variation in pH and very low variation in organic carbon content in cultivated waste land suggest that these lands have been abandoned or left uncultivated for an extended period, resulting in a less dynamic soil environment. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content in non-cultivated land may be attributed to the natural soil formation processes and weathering, which influence soil characteristics over time. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content in pasture land can be attributed to the combined impact of natural processes and land management practices, such as grazing.

**Nadia District:** The analysis of different land use patterns in Nadia district reveals variations in pH, organic carbon content (O.C %), and soil texture across various land use categories, including barren land, cultivated land, cultivated waste land, fallow land, forest land, non-cultivated land, and pasture land. Each land use category is associated with specific soil characteristics, providing valuable insights into the agricultural practices, land management, and environmental conditions in the region.

Barren land in Nadia district is characterized by varying soil textures, including silty clay and sandy loam. The pH and organic carbon content in barren land show moderate variation. The variation in soil texture may be attributed to the geological formations and natural processes, resulting in the presence of different soil types within the barren areas.

Cultivated land, on the other hand, predominantly consists of clay loam, sandy clay, clay, and silty loam soils. The pH and organic carbon content in cultivated land exhibit moderate variation, which may be influenced by agricultural practices, land management, and the use of fertilizers.

Cultivated waste land in Nadia district shows moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content, mainly comprising silty clay and clay soils. The presence of moderate variation may be related to the previous agricultural activities or land use practices in these areas.

Fallow land in the region exhibits moderate variation in both pH and organic carbon content, primarily composed of loam and clay loam soils. The variations in soil texture

and organic carbon content could be influenced by the natural regeneration and weathering processes during the fallow period.

Forest land in Nadia district shows a relatively constant pH and organic carbon content, predominantly composed of clay soils. The stable soil characteristics in forest areas may be attributed to the consistent natural processes and organic matter input from decaying plant materials.

Non-cultivated land in the district comprises sandy loam, loam, sandy clay, and silty clay soils, showing moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content. The variations in soil characteristics could be related to natural factors and local variations in soil formation processes.

Pasture land in Nadia district displays moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content, primarily composed of loam, clay loam, and sandy loam soils. The variations in soil texture and organic carbon content may be influenced by grazing activities and land management practices in the pasture areas.

Bankura district's geological formations may include alluvial deposits and diverse soil parent materials. These geological variations contribute to the presence of different soil textures in the region. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content in cultivated and cultivated waste lands may be influenced by the agricultural practices, including the use of fertilizers, irrigation methods, and crop residues. The moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content in fallow and pasture lands could be related to land management practices, such as crop rotation, grazing, and organic matter input. Forest land in Nadia district exhibits stable soil characteristics due to the consistent input of organic matter from forest vegetation and limited human intervention. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in non-cultivated land could be attributed to natural processes of soil formation and weathering, resulting in different soil textures across the region.

**Paschim Medinipur:** The analysis of different land use patterns in Paschim Medinipur district reveals variations in pH, organic carbon content (O.C.), and soil texture across various land use categories, including cultivated land, fallow land, non-cultivated land, and pasture land. Each land use category is associated with specific soil characteristics,

providing valuable insights into the agricultural practices, land management, and environmental conditions in the region.

Cultivated land in Paschim Medinipur district consists of loam and sandy soils, with moderate variations in pH and organic carbon content. The variations in pH and organic carbon content may be influenced by agricultural practices, such as the use of fertilizers, irrigation methods, and crop residues.

Fallow land in the district is primarily composed of sandy loam and sandy soils. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in fallow land could be related to the land's temporary abandonment and subsequent natural regeneration processes.

Non-cultivated land in Paschim Medinipur district comprises a mix of sand and silt soils. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in non-cultivated land may be attributed to natural soil formation processes, geological variations, and land cover changes over time.

Pasture land in the region displays variations in pH and organic carbon content, primarily composed of sandy loam and silt soils. The variations in soil characteristics in pasture land may be influenced by grazing activities, land management practices, and the input of organic matter from pasture vegetation.

Paschim Medinipur district's geological formations may include alluvial soils, laterite soils, and sedimentary rocks, leading to the presence of different soil textures and mineral compositions across the region. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in cultivated land may be influenced by the agricultural practices, including the use of fertilizers, manure, and irrigation methods. The presence of fallow land with variations in pH and organic carbon content could be related to land management practices, land cover changes, and temporary abandonment of agricultural fields. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in non-cultivated land may be attributed to natural processes of soil formation and weathering, resulting in different soil textures across the region. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in pasture land can be attributed to the combined impact of grazing activities, which can lead to variations in nutrient cycling and organic matter input.

**Bankura District:** The analysis on different land use patterns of soil samples in Bankura district reveals variations in pH, organic carbon content (O.C.), and soil texture across various land use categories, including barren land, cultivated land, non-cultivated land, and pasture land. Each land use category is associated with specific soil characteristics, providing valuable insights into the agricultural practices, land management, and environmental conditions in the region.

Barren land in Bankura district is characterized by varying soil textures, including sandy loam, clay loam, sandy clay, and sand. The pH and organic carbon content in barren land show moderate variations, which could be influenced by the natural weathering processes and lack of significant organic matter input.

Cultivated land, on the other hand, predominantly consists of clay loam, sandy clay, and sandy loam soils. The pH and organic carbon content in cultivated land exhibit moderate variations. The variations may be related to the agricultural practices, such as the use of fertilizers, irrigation methods, and crop residues.

Non-cultivated land in Bankura district primarily comprises clay, clay loam, sandy loam, and sandy clay soils. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in non-cultivated land could be influenced by natural soil formation processes, geological variations, and land cover changes over time.

Pasture land in the region displays moderate variation in pH and organic carbon content, primarily composed of sandy clay, clay, and clay loam soils. The variations in soil texture and organic carbon content may be influenced by grazing activities, land management practices, and the input of organic matter from pasture vegetation.

Bankura district's geological formations may include laterite soils, alluvial deposits, and sedimentary rocks, leading to the presence of different soil textures and mineral compositions across the region. The moderate variations in pH and organic carbon content in cultivated land may be influenced by the agricultural practices, including the use of fertilizers, manure, and irrigation methods. The variations in soil characteristics in non-cultivated land may be related to land management practices, land cover changes, and natural processes affecting soil formation and fertility. The variations in pH and organic carbon content in pasture land can be attributed to the combined impact of grazing activities, which can lead to variations in nutrient cycling and organic matter input. The presence of different soil textures, including sandy loam, clay loam, sandy

clay, and sand in barren land, could be a result of weathering and erosion processes affecting the parent material.

**Purba Medinipur:** In Purba Medinipur district, the land use pattern consists of forested areas, cropped land (pre-kharif), barren land, current fallow land (6 months), and fallow land. Each land use category exhibits distinct soil characteristics, pH levels, organic carbon content, and soil texture, which can be attributed to specific factors relevant to the district.

The forested areas in Purba Medinipur district show a diverse range of soil characteristics. The soils in forested regions have slightly acidic to neutral pH levels. The organic carbon content is relatively higher in the samples which is collected from planted forest of Haldia due to the presence of plant debris and leaf litter contributing to organic matter. The sample which is collected coastal planted forests have low organic carbon content. There are two types of soil texture found in the forest area of Purba Medinipur. Coastal forests have sandy soil and the forest in Haldia has clay soil texture. Organic carbon contains relatively lower in coastal forests because of the sandy soil.

Cultivated lands before the Kharif season display a range of soil characteristics in Purba Medinipur district. The pH levels are slightly acidic to neutral, possibly influenced by agricultural practices, including the use of fertilizers. Organic carbon content varies, indicating the impact of crop residues and organic inputs. It has been found that the crop land of pre kharif season has higher soil organic carbon than any other soil sample collected from land use pattern found in Purba Medinipur. The application of organic manures, probiotics and temperature might be another reason Temperature plays a vital role in the decomposition of organic matter and the increase in organic carbon content. In suitable temperatures, the decomposition rate in crop lands is higher, facilitating the breakdown of organic residues and their conversion into stable organic carbon. Warmer temperatures often enhance microbial activity, leading to faster decomposition rates, which can result in increased organic carbon accumulation in the soil. The prevalence of clay and clay loam textures is likely due to compaction from cultivation and irrigation practices. (Kaur et al., 2008).

Barren lands in the district exhibit near-neutral pH levels with minimal organic carbon content. The soil sample of barren land collected from coastal area of Ramnagar 2 block

and salinity made this land barren. These areas lack vegetation cover and leading to lower organic carbon and fertility. The presence of sandy clay soil indicates erosion and poor soil structure in barren land. (Bhattacharyya et al. 2011)

Current fallow land, which is left fallow from previous kharif cultivation, shows decreased pH levels compared to other land use categories. The organic carbon content is relatively lower than forest land but higher than barren land, as organic matter starts to accumulate during fallow periods. The predominance of clay loam and clay soils suggests initial soil regeneration.

Fallow lands in Purba Medinipur district exhibit a slightly higher pH compared to current fallow. Organic carbon content is moderate, signifying ongoing organic matter accumulation during the fallow period. The presence of sandy loam and clay loam textures indicates potential improvement in soil structure and fertility during fallow phases.

Analyzing the NDVI values of Purba Medinipur for the years 2003, 2013, and 2023, a significant conversion of agricultural land to fishing ponds has been observed. This conversion has had a significant effect on the environment and overall yield of the district, which is an alarming sign for Purba Medinipur. Loss of fertile agricultural land can result in reduced food production and potential disruptions to the local food supply chain. Moreover, the removal of natural vegetation and soil disturbance during pond construction can negatively affect the local ecosystem, leading to habitat loss and potentially harming the biodiversity of the region.



Figure 34. Water Body 2003

Figure 35. Water Body 2013

Figure 33. Water Body 2023

**Chapter 7: Conclusions** 

# 7. Conclusions

The present thesis titled "Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators under Different Land Use Patterns in West Bengal" aimed to investigate the relationship between land use patterns and soil quality indicators, specifically soil texture, soil pH, and soil organic carbon in six districts of West Bengal: Purulia, Malda, Nadia, Paschim Medinipur, Bankura, and Purba Medinipur. The research has provided valuable insights into the state of soil health in these regions and has shed light on the impacts of various land use practices on soil properties. Based on the comprehensive laboratory tests and analysis of soil samples from different land use patterns, the following conclusions have been drawn:

The research demonstrated a significant relationship between land use patterns and soil pH levels. Agricultural regions, especially those with a history of excessive chemical fertilizer use, exhibited lower soil pH values, indicating higher acidity. In contrast, forested or vegetated areas displayed more neutral to slightly alkaline pH levels. Maintaining appropriate soil pH through sustainable agricultural practices is crucial for optimizing nutrient availability and supporting crop growth.

The study revealed distinct variations in soil texture across the six districts under different land use patterns. Areas under intensive agricultural practices exhibited higher proportions of fine-textured soils, while regions with more forest cover or natural vegetation tended to have soils with coarser textures. These variations highlight the importance of considering soil texture in land management decisions to optimize crop suitability and water retention capabilities.

The study also found that land use patterns strongly influenced soil organic carbon content in the six districts. Ongoing cropping land has higher soil organic carbon than any other land use pattern Forested and natural areas showed higher levels of soil organic carbon, indicating better carbon sequestration potential and soil health. Conversely, regions with intensive agricultural practices demonstrated lower soil organic carbon content, indicating higher susceptibility to soil degradation. Implementing measures to enhance soil organic carbon content in agricultural lands can contribute to soil fertility and long-term sustainability.
Overall, the research has highlighted the complexity of the relationship between land use patterns and soil quality indicators in West Bengal. It emphasizes the importance of sustainable land management practices, especially in areas experiencing intensive agricultural activities and urban expansion, to mitigate soil degradation and maintain soil health. Additionally, the findings underscore the significance of preserving natural vegetation and adopting agroforestry practices to enhance soil quality and promote ecosystem resilience. The knowledge gained from this study can serve as a valuable resource for policymakers, land managers, and agricultural practitioners in West Bengal to develop targeted strategies for soil conservation and sustainable land use planning. However, it is essential to recognize that soil quality is a dynamic process influenced by various factors, including climate change, land management practices, and human activities. Therefore, continuous monitoring and further research are necessary to ensure the long-term health and productivity of the soils in the region.

In conclusion, this thesis contributes significantly to the understanding of soil quality indicators under different land use patterns in West Bengal, providing valuable information to support informed decision-making and fostering sustainable land management practices for a resilient and productive agricultural future.

**Chapter 8: Future Scope** 

## 8. Future Scope

After Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators under Different Land Use Patterns in West Bengal provides valuable insights into the current status of soil quality in the region based on laboratory tests of soil samples from various land use patterns. The study establishes a foundation for understanding the impact of land use practices on soil health, which is crucial for sustainable land management and agricultural productivity. Building on this foundational work, the study opens up several potential avenues for future research and enhancement of the study:

To gain more comprehensive insights, extending the study over a longer duration with regular soil sampling and analysis would allow researchers to observe trends and changes in soil quality indicators over time under various land use patterns. Expanding the research to include more regions or locations beyond the initial study area can help identify regional variations in soil quality responses to different land use practices. Considering the influence of climate change on soil quality indicators could be an essential extension. Future research could focus on assessing the soil biota and microbial diversity in response to different land use patterns, as microorganisms play a crucial role in soil health and nutrient cycling. Developing predictive models that incorporate soil quality indicators, land use patterns, and climate data can help forecast the potential impacts of various land management practices on soil health in the future. Investigating and promoting sustainable land management practices, based on the findings of the study, can help farmers and land managers make informed decisions to enhance soil health and productivity. Integrating remote sensing and Geographic Information System (GIS) techniques can provide a broader spatial understanding of soil quality indicators under different land use patterns, enabling better land use planning and decision-making. Involving local communities, policymakers, and relevant stakeholders in the research process can lead to more practical and effective soil management strategies that consider local needs and priorities. Conducting an economic analysis of the various land use patterns and their impact on soil quality can provide valuable information to policymakers and landowners on the long-term benefits of sustainable practices.

"Assessment of Soil Quality Indicators under Different Land Use Patterns in West Bengal" lays the groundwork for understanding soil health in the region. However, the future scope of research extends beyond the current study. By exploring long-term trends, climate change impacts, varying land use intensities, soil biota, crop-related aspects, and practical soil management strategies, this research can contribute significantly to sustainable land use and agricultural practices, ultimately supporting food security and environmental conservation in the region. **Chapter 9: References** 

## 9. References:

Abad, J.R.S., Khosravi, H., & Alamdarlou, E.H. (2014). Assessment of the Effects of Land-Use Changes on Soil PHysico-Chemical Properties in Jafarabad of Golestan Province, Iran. Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology, and Life Sciences, 3(Special Issue III), 296-300.

Abera, Y., & Belachew, T. (2011). Effects of Land Use on Soil Organic Carbon and Nitrogen in Soils of Bale, Southeastern Ethiopia. Tropical and Subtropical Agroecosystems, 14, 229-235.

Agnelli, A., Ascher, J., Corti, G., Ceccherini, M.T., Nannipieri, P., & Pietramellara, G. (2004). Distribution of Microbial Communities in a Forest Soil Profile Investigated by Microbial Biomass, Soil Respiration, and DGGE of Total and Extracellular DNA. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 36, 859-868.

Allen, D.E., Singh, B.P., & Dalal, R.C. (2011). Soil health indicators under climate change: a review of current knowledge. Soil health and climate change, 25-45.

Andrade, E.M., Valbrun, W., Almeida, A.M.M.D., Rosa, G., & Silva, A.G.R.D. (2020). Land-Use Effect on Soil Carbon and Nitrogen Stock in a Seasonally Dry Tropical Forest. Agronomy, 10(158), 1-14.

Ayoubi, S., Khormali, F., Sahrawat, K.L., & Rodrigues de Lima, A.C. (2011). Assessing Impacts of Land-Use Change on Soil Quality Indicators in a Loessial Soil in Golestan Province, Iran. Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology, 13, 727-742.

Beheshti, A., Raiesi, F., & Golchin, A. (2012). Soil Properties, C Fractions, and Their Dynamics in Land-Use Conversion from Native Forests to Croplands in Northern Iran. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 148, 121-133.

Benbi, D.K., Brar, K., Toor, A.S., & Singh, P. (2014). Total and Labile Pools of Soil Organic Carbon in Cultivated and Undisturbed Soils in Northern India. Geoderma, 237-238, 149-158.

Beuschel, R., PiepHo, H.P., Joergensen, R.G., & Wachendorf, C. (2018). Similar Spatial Patterns of Soil Quality Indicators in Three Poplar-Based Silvo-Arable Alley Cropping Systems in Germany. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 55, 1-14.

Bhattacharya, R.K., Das Chatterjee, N., & Das, K. (2021). Land use and land cover change and its resultant erosion susceptible level: An appraisal using RUSLE and

Logistic Regression in a tropical plateau basin of West Bengal, India. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 23(2), 1411-1446.

Bhattacharya, T., & Guleria, S. (2012). Coastal flood management in rural planning unit through land-use planning: Kaikhali, West Bengal, India. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 16(1), 77-87.

Bizuhoraho, T., Kayiranga, A., Manirakiza, N., & Mourad, K.A. (2018). The Effect of Land-Use Systems on Soil Properties: A Case Study from Rwanda. Sustainable Agriculture Research, 7(2), 30-40.

Blonska, E., Lasota, J., & Zwydak, M. (2017). The Relationship Between Soil Properties, Enzyme Activity, and Land-Use. Forest Research, 78, 39-44. Doi: 10.1515/frp-2017-0004.

Bolinder, M.A., Angers, D.A., Gregorich, E.G., & Carter, M.R. (1999). The response of soil quality indicators to conservation management. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 79(1), 37-45.

Bongiorno, G., Bünemann, E.K., Oguejiofor, C.U., Meier, J., Gort, G., Comans, R., Mäder, P., Brussaard, L., & de Goede, R. (2019). Sensitivity of labile carbon fractions to tillage and organic matter management and their potential as comprehensive soil quality indicators across pedoclimatic conditions in Europe. Ecological Indicators, 99, 38-56.

Brejda, J.J., Moorman, T.B., Karlen, D.L., & Dao, T.H. (2000). Identification of regional soil quality factors and indicators I. Central and Southern High Plains. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 64(6), 2115-2124.

Cambardella, C.A., & Elliot, E.T. (1992). Particulate Organic Matter Changes Across a Grassland Cultivation Sequence. Soil Science Society of American Journal, 56, 777-783.

Chakraborty, K., & Mistri, B. (2015). Importance of soil texture in sustenance of agriculture: a study in Burdwan-I CD Block, Burdwan, West Bengal. Eastern GeograpHer, 21, 475-482.

Chamling, M., & Bera, B. (2020). Spatio-temporal patterns of land use/land cover change in the Bhutan–Bengal foothill region between 1987 and 2019: study towards geospatial applications and policy making. Earth Systems and Environment, 4(1), 117-130.

Chatterjee, N., Nair, P.K.R., Chakraborty, S., & Nair, V.D. (2018). Changes in Soil Carbon Stocks Across the Forest-Agroforest-Agriculture/Pasture Continuum in Various Agro-Ecological Regions: A Meta-Analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 266, 55-67.

Chatterjee, S., & Gupta, K. (2021). Exploring the spatial pattern of urban heat island formation in relation to land transformation: A study on a mining industrial region of West Bengal, India. Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment, 23, 100581.

Chen, G., & Zhenli, H.E. (2003). Effect of Land Use on Microbial Biomass-C, -N, and -P in Red Soils. Journal of Zhejiang University Science, 4(4), 480-484.

Chen, Y.D., Wang, H.Y., Zhou, J.M., Xing, L., Zhu, B.S., Zhao, Y.C., & Chen, X.Q. (2013). Minimum Data Set for Assessing Soil Quality in Farmland of Northeast China. Pedosphere, 23, 564-576.

Das, S., & Angadi, D.P. (2020). Land use-land cover (LULC) transformation and its relation with land surface temperature changes: A case study of Barrackpore Subdivision, West Bengal, India. Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment, 19, 100322.

Datta, A., Basak, N., Chaudhary, S.K., & Sharma, D.K. (2015). Soil Properties and Organic Carbon Distribution Under Different Land Uses in Reclaimed Sodic Soils of North-West India. Geoderma, 4, 134-146.

Datta, K. (2022). Does geodiversity correlate with land use/land cover diversity? A case study of Birbhum district, West Bengal, India. Proceedings of the Geologists' Association.

De D, B.S., & Ghosh, S. (2014). Assessment of land use and land cover changes in Panchrakhi village, Hugli district, West Bengal, India. Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 19, 120-126.

De D, B.S., & Ghosh, S. (2014). Assessment of land use and land cover changes in Panchrakhi village, Hugli district, West Bengal, India. Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 19, 120-126.

Dhaliwal, S.S., & Singh, B. (2013). Depth-Wise Distribution of Macronutrients, Micronutrients, and Microbial Populations Under Different Land-Use Systems. Asian Journal of Soil Science, 8(2), 404-411. Dhaliwal, S.S., Sharma, B.D., Singh, B., & Khera, K.L. (2008). Profile Distribution of Chemical, Physical, and Microbial Indicators in Four Land-Use Systems of Sadh Di Khad Watershed in Submontaneous Tract of Punjab. Asian Journal of Soil Science, 3(2), 316-322.

Dhar, R.B., Chakraborty, S., Chattopadhyay, R., & Sikdar, P.K. (2019). Impact of land-use/land-cover change on land surface temperature using satellite data: A case study of Rajarhat Block, North 24-Parganas District, West Bengal. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 47(2), 331-348.

Dhar, R.B., Chakraborty, S., Chattopadhyay, R., & Sikdar, P.K. (2019). Impact of land-use/land-cover change on land surface temperature using satellite data: A case study of Rajarhat Block, North 24-Parganas District, West Bengal. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 47(2), 331-348.

Dutta, S., & Guchhait, S.K. (2020). Assessment of land use land cover dynamics and urban growth of Kanksa Block in Paschim Barddhaman District, West Bengal. GeoJournal, 1-20.

Duval, M.E., Galantini, J.A., Iglesias, J.O., Canelo, S., Martinez, M.J., & Wall, L. (2013). Analysis of Organic Fractions as Indicators of Soil Quality Under Natural and Cultivated Systems. Soil and Tillage Research, 131, 11-19.

Ebabu, K., Tsunekawa, A., Haregeweyn, N., Adgo, E., Meshesha, D.T., Aklog, D., Masunaga, T., Tsubo, M., Sultan, D., Fenta, A.A., & Yibeltal, M. (2020). Exploring the Variability of Soil Properties as Influenced by Land-Use and Management Practices: A Case Study in the Upper Blue Nile Basin, Ethiopia. Soil and Tillage Research, 200(104614), 1-13.

Emiru, N., & Gebrekidan, H. (2013). Effect of Land-Use Changes and Soil Depth on Soil Organic Matter, Total Nitrogen, and Available PHospHorus Contents of Soils in Senbat Watershed, Western Ethiopia. Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences, 8, 206-212.

Eswaran, H., van den Berg, E., & Reich, P.F. (1993). Organic Carbon in Soils of the World. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 57, 193-194.

Fagotti, D.S.L., Miyauchi, M.Y.H., Oliveira, A.G., Santinoni, I.A., Eberhardt, D.N., Nimtz, A., Ribeiro, R.A., Paula, A.M., Queiroz, C.A.S., Andrade, G., Zangaro, W., & Nogueira, M.A. (2012). Gradients in Nitrogen Cycling Attributes Along Forestry and Agricultural Land-Use Systems are Indicative of Soil Capacity for Nitrogen Supply. Soil Use and Management, 1-7.

Fernandes, J.C., Gamero, C.A., Rodrigues, J.G.L., & Avalos, J.M.M. (2011). Determination of the Quality Index of a Paleudult Under Sunflower Culture and Different Management Systems. Soil and Tillage Research, 112, 167-174.

Finzi, A.C., Van Breemen, N., & Canham, C.D. (1998). Canopy Tree-Soil Interactions Within Temperate Forests: Species Effects on Soil Carbon and Nitrogen. Ecological Applications, 8, 440-446.

Gebrelibanos, T., & Assen, M. (2013). Effects of Land-Use/Cover Changes on Soil Properties in a Dryland Watershed of Hirmi and its Adjacent Agro-Ecosystem: Northern Ethiopia. International Journal of Geosciences Research, 1(1), 45-57.

Gebreselassie, Y. (2002). Selected Chemical and Physical Characteristics of Soils of Adet Research Center and its Testing Sites in Northwestern Ethiopia. Ethiopian Journal of Natural Resources, 4(2), 199-215.

Geissen, V., Sanchez-Hernandez, R., Kampichler, C., Ramos-Reyes, R., Sepulveda-Lozada, A., Ochoa-Goana, S., de Jong, B.H.J., Huertal-Lwanga, E., & Hernandez-Daumas, S. (2009). Effects of Land Use Change on Some Properties of Tropical Soils - An Example from South-west Mexico. Geoderma, 51, 87-97.

Ghimire, P., Bhatta, B., Pokhre, B., Sharma, B., & Shrestha, I. (2018). Assessment of Soil Quality for Different Land-Uses in the Chure Region of Central Nepal. Journal of Agriculture and Natural Resources, 1(1), 32-42.

Halder, J.C. (2013). Land use/land cover and change detection mapping in Binpur-II Block, Paschim Medinipur District, West Bengal: A remote sensing and GIS perspective. IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 8(5), 20-31.

Haynes, R.J. (2005). Labile Organic Matter Fractions as Central Components of the Quality of Agricultural Soils: An Overview. Advances in Agronomy, 85, 221-268.

Heluf, G., & Wakene, N. (2006). Impact of Land-Use and Management Practices on Chemical Properties of Some Soils of Bako Area, Western Ethiopia. Ethiopian Journal of Natural Resources, 8(2), 177-197.

Hoque, I., & Lepcha, S. (2020). A geospatial analysis of land use dynamics and its impact on land surface temperature in Siliguri Jalpaiguri development region, West Bengal. Applied Geomatics, 12(2), 163-178.

Hoque, I., & Lepcha, S. (2020). A geospatial analysis of land use dynamics and its impact on land surface temperature in Siliguri Jalpaiguri development region, West Bengal. Applied Geomatics, 12(2), 163-178.

Hussaina, S., Sharmaa, V., Aryaa, V.M., Sharmaa, K.R., & Rao, C.S. (2019). Total Organic and Inorganic Carbon in Soils Under Different Land-Use/Land Cover Systems in the Foothill Himalayas. Catena, 182, 104104.

Ingram, J.S.I., & Fernandes, E.C.M. (2001). Managing Carbon Sequestration in Soils: Concepts and Terminology. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 87, 1-14.

Islam, K.R., & Weil, R.R. (2000). Land Use Effects on Soil Quality in a Tropical Forest Ecosystem of Bangladesh. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 79, 9-16.

Jain, B.L., Singh, R.S., Syampura, R.L., & Gajbhiye, K.S. (2005). Land-Use Planning of Udaipur District - Soil Resource and Agro-Ecological Assessment. NBSSS Publication No. 113, NBSS and LUP, Nagpur, pp. 69.

Jamala, G.Y., & Oke, D.O. (2013). Soil Organic Carbon Fractions as Affected by Land-Use in Southern Guinea Savanna Ecosystem of Andamawa State, Nigeria. Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management, 4, 1116-1122.

Jiang, Y., Hao, W., Zhang, Y.G., & Liang, W.J. (2006). Changes in Soil Nutrients with Profile Depth in Aquic Brown Soil Under Different Land-Uses. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation, 20, 93-96.

John, B., Yamashita, T., Ludwig, B., & Flessa, H. (2005). Storage of Organic Carbon in Aggregate and Density Fractions of Silty Soils Under Different Types of Land-Use. Geoderma, 128, 63-79.

Jones, D.L., Simfukwe, P., Hill, P.W., Mills, R.T., & Emmett, B.A. (2014). Evaluation of dissolved organic carbon as a soil quality indicator in national monitoring schemes. PLoS One, 9(3), e90882.

Jurys, A., & Feizienė, D. (2021). The Effect of Specific Soil Microorganisms on Soil Quality Parameters and Organic Matter Content for Cereal Production. Plants, 10(10), 2000.

Kalambukattu, J.G., Singh, R., & Patra, A.K. (2013). Soil Carbon Pools and Carbon Management Index Under Different Land-Use Systems in the Central Himalayan Region. Acta Agriculture Scandinavica, Section B-Soil and Plant Science, 63(3), 200-205.

Kalu, S., Koirala, M., Khadka, U.R., & Anup, K.C. (2015). Soil Quality Assessment for Different Land-Use in the Panchase Area of Western Nepal. International Journal of Environmental Protection, 5, 38-43.

Karlen, D.L., & Stott, D.E. (1994). A Framework for Evaluating Physical and Chemical Indicators of Soil Quality. In J.W. et al. (Eds.), Defining Soil Quality for a Sustainable Environment (pp. 53–72). SSSA Spec. Publ. No. 35. SSSA, Madison, WI. Karlen, D.L., Eash, N.S., & Unger, P.W. (1992). Soil and crop management effects on soil quality indicators. American Journal of alternative agriculture, 7(1-2), 48-55.

Karlen, D.L., Eash, N.S., & Unger, P.W. (1992). Soil and crop management effects on soil quality indicators. American Journal of alternative agriculture, 7(1-2), 48-55.

Keeney, D.R., & Nelson, D.W. (1982). Nitrogen Inorganic Forms. In A.L. Page, R. Miller, D.R. Keeney (Eds.), Methods of Soil Analysis, Agronomy Monograph Part 2, 2nd edition, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin, 643-698.

Kiflu, A., & Beyene, S. (2013). Effects of Different Land-Use Systems on Selected Soil Properties in South Ethiopia. Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management, 4(5), 100-107.

Lakaria, B.L., Patne, M.K., Jha, P., & Biswas, A.K. (2012). Soil Organic Carbon Pools and Indices Under Different Land-Use Systems in Vertisols of Central India. Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science, 60(2), 125-131.

Lambin, E.F., Rounsevell, M.D.A., & Geist, H.J. (2000). Are Agricultural Land-Use Models Able to Predict Changes in Land-Use Intensity? Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 82, 321-331.

Lemenih, M., Karltun, E., & Olsson, M. (2005). Assessing Soil Chemical and Physical Property Responses to Deforestation and Subsequent Cultivation in Smallholders Farming System in Ethiopia. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 105(1-2), 373-386.

Lepcha, N.T., & Devi, N.B. (2020). Effect of Land-Use, Season, and Soil Depth on Soil Microbial Biomass Carbon of Eastern Himalayas. Ecological Processes, 9(65), 1-14. Liebig, M.A., & Doran, J.W. (1999). Impact of organic production practices on soil quality indicators (Vol. 28, No. 5, pp. 1601-1609). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America.

Liebig, M.A., Doran, J.W., & Gardner, J.C. (1996). Evaluation of a field test kit for measuring selected soil quality indicators. Agronomy Journal, 88(4), 683-686.

Lima, A.C.R., Brussaard, L., Totola, M.R., Hoogmoed, W.B., & Goede, R.G.M. (2013). A Functional Evaluation of Three Indicator Sets for Assessing Soil Quality. Applied Soil Ecology, 64, 194-200.

Maini, A., Sharma, V., & Sharma, S. (2020). Assessment of Soil Carbon and Biochemical Indicators of Soil Quality Under Rainfed Land-Use Systems in the North Eastern Region of Punjab, India. Carbon Management.

Malo, D.D., Schumacher, T.E., & Doolittle, J.J. (2005). Long-Term Cultivation Impacts on Selected Soil Properties in the Northern Great Plains. Soil and Tillage Research, 81, 277-291.

Mandal, D., Dhyani, B.L., Kumar, A., Singh, C., Bihari, B., Muruganandam, M., & Madhu, M. (2013). Impact of Different Land-Use Systems on Soil Quality in Northwest Himalayan Region. Indian Journal of Soil Conservation, 41(2), 200-220.

Marzaioli, R., Ascoli, R.D., De Pascale, R.A., & Rutigliano, F.A. (2010). Soil Quality in Mediterranean Areas of Southern Italy as Related to Different Land Use Types. Applied Soil Ecology, 44, 205-212.

Merwin, H.D., & Peech, M. (1950). Exchangeability of Soil Potassium in Sand, Silt, and Clay Fractions as Influenced by the Nature of the Complimentary Exchangeable Cations. Soil Science Society of America, Proceedings, 15, 125-128.

Misra, S., & Roy, T. (2019). The impact of land use land cover on the flood plain of Bhagirathi River, Purba Bardhaman District, West Bengal, India. J Geogr Environ Earth Sci Int, 1-10.

Mondal, J., & Mandal, S. (2018). Monitoring changing course of the river Ganga and land-use dynamicity in Manikchak Diara of Malda district, West Bengal, India, using geospatial tools. Spatial Information Research, 26(6), 691-704.

Mondal, M. (2012). Land People-a dynamic interaction of Purba Medinipur district, West Bengal. IOSR Journal of Pharmacy, 2(6), 56-61. Mondal, R., & Mistri, B. (2022). Changing Pattern of Land Use Land Cover Due to Sonepur–Bazari Open Cast Coal Mine and Its Impact on Surrounding Area, West Bengal, India. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 1-15.

Muñoz-Rojas, M. (2018). Soil quality indicators: critical tools in ecosystem restoration. Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health, 5, 47-52.

Nakajima, T., Lal, R., & Jiang, S. (2015). Soil Quality Index of a Crosby Silt Loam in Central Ohio. Soil and Tillage Research, 146, 323-328.

Ngo-Mbogba, M., Yemefack, M., & Nyeck, B. (2015). Assessing Soil Quality Under Different Land Cover Types Within Shifting Agriculture in South Cameroon. Soil and Tillage Research, 150, 124-131.

Niaz, S., Ijaz, S.S., Hassan, A., & Sharif, M.D. (2017). Land-Use Impacts on Soil Organic Carbon Fractions in Different Rainfall Areas of a Subtropical Dryland. Archive of Agronomy and Soil Science, 63(10), 1337-1345.

Nortcliff, S. (2002). Standardization of Soil Quality Attributes. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 88, 161–168.

Onwonga, R.N., Lelei, J.J., & Mochoge, B.B. (2010). Mineral Nitrogen and Microbial Biomass Dynamics Under Different Acid Soil Management Practices for Maize Production. Journal of Agriculture Sciences, 2, 16-30.

Pal, S., Panwar, P., & Bhardwaj, D.R. (2013). Soil Quality Under Forest Compared to Other Land-Uses in Acid Soil of Northwestern Himalaya, India. Annals Forest Research, 56, 187-198.

Pandey, V., Gautam, P., & Singh, A.P. (2018). Assessment of Physical Properties of Soil Under Different Land-Use Systems in a Mollisol. Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry, 7(6), 2645-2648.

Patra, S., & Gavsker, K.K. (2021). Land use and land cover change-induced landscape dynamics: a geospatial study of Durgapur Sub-Division, West Bengal (India).

Poeplau, C., & Don, A. (2013). Sensitivity of Soil Organic Carbon Stocks and Fractions to Different Land-Use Changes Across Europe. Geoderma, 192, 189-201.

Rahmanipour, F., Marzaioli, R., Bahrami, H.A., Fereidouni, Z., & Bandarabadi, S.R. (2014). Assessment of Soil Quality Indices in Agricultural Lands of Qazvin Province, Iran. Ecological Indicators, 40, 19-26.

Rajakumari, S., Sundari, S., Meenambikai, M., & Divya, V. (2020). Impact analysis of land use dynamics on coastal features of Deshapran block, Purba East Medinipur, West Bengal. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 24(2), 1-10.

Rakesh, S., Sinha, A.K., Sarkar, D., Sahoo, S., & Roy, D. (2020). Key soil attributes as influenced by cropping systems in an entisol of West Bengal, India. Climate Change and Environmental Sustainability, 8(2), 226-232.

Rasaily, R. (2021). Changing land utilisation patterns in tea plantation sector in West Bengal: Some policy imperatives.

Ros, G.H., Hanegraaf, M.C., Hoffland, E., & Riemsdijk, W.H. (2011). Predicting Soil N Mineralization: Relevance of Organic Matter Fractions and Soil Properties. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 43, 1714-1722.

Roy, P., Chakrabortty, R., Chowdhuri, I., Malik, S., Das, B., & Pal, S.C. (2020). Development of different machine learning ensemble classifier for gully erosion susceptibility in Gandheswari Watershed of West Bengal, India. Machine learning for intelligent decision science, 1-26.

Rudrappa, L., Purakayastha, T.J., Singh, D., & Bhadraray, S. (2005). Long-Term Manuring and Fertilization Effect on Soil Organic Carbon Pools in a Typic Haplustept of Semi-Arid Sub-Tropical India. Soil and Tillage Research, 30, 1-13.

Saha, D., Kukal, S.S., & Bawa, S.S. (2012). Soil Organic Carbon Stock and Fractions in Relation to Land-Use and Soil Depth in Degraded Shiwaliks of Lower Himalayas. Land Degradation and Development, 25(5), 407-416.

Sainepo, B.M., Charles, K., Gachene, C.K., & Karuma, A. (2018). Assessment of Soil Organic Carbon Fractions and Carbon Management Index Under Different Land-Use Types in Olesharo Catchment, Narok County, Kenya. Carbon Balance and Management, 13, 1-9.

Sam, K. (2014). Changing land use and land cover in fringe area using GIS: A case study of Barddhaman town, West Bengal. International Journal of Geomatics and Geosciences, 5(2), 243.

Selassie, Y.G., & Ayanna, G. (2013). Effects of Different Land-Use Systems on Selected Physio-Chemical Properties of Soils in Northwestern Ethiopia. Journal of Agricultural Science, 5(4), 112-120. Shamsudheen, M., Devi, D., Meena, S.L., & Ram, B. (2014). Carbon Sequestration in Agroforestry and Pasture Systems in Arid Northwestern India. Current Science, 107(8), 1290-1293.

Sharma, V., Hussain, S., Sharma, K.R., & Arya, V.M. (2014). Labile Carbon Pools and Soil Organic Carbon Stocks in the Foothill Himalayas Under Different Land-Use Systems. Geoderma, 232-234, 81-87.

Shi, P., Zhang, Y., Li, P., Li, Z., Yu, K., Ren, Z., Xu, G., Cheng, S., Wang, F., & Ma,
Y. (2019). Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon Impacted by Land-Use Changes in a
Hilly Watershed of the Loess Plateau, China. Science of the Total Environment, 652, 505-512.

Shikary, C., & Rudra, S. (2021). Measuring urban land use change and sprawl using geospatial techniques: A study on Purulia Municipality, West Bengal, India. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 49(2), 433-448.

Shikary, C., & Rudra, S. (2021). Measuring urban land use change and sprawl using geospatial techniques: A study on Purulia Municipality, West Bengal, India. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 49(2), 433-448.

Shukla, M.K., Lal, R., & Ebinger, M. (2006). Determining soil quality indicators by factor analysis. Soil and Tillage Research, 87(2), 194-204.

Shukla, M.K., Lal, R., & Ebinger, M. (2006). Determining Soil Quality Indicators by Factor Analysis. Soil and Tillage Research, 87, 194-204.

Sikdar, P.K., Chakraborty, S., Adhya, E., & Paul, P.K. (2004). Land use/land cover changes and groundwater potential zoning in and around Raniganj coal mining area, Bardhaman District, West Bengal: a GIS and remote sensing approach. J Spat Hydrol, 4(2), 1-24.

Smith, P. (2007). Land-Use Change and Soil Organic Carbon Dynamics. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 81(2), 169-178.

Sun, B., Zhou, S., & Zhao, Q. (2003). Evaluation of spatial and temporal changes of soil quality based on geostatistical analysis in the hill region of subtropical China. Geoderma, 115(1-2), 85-99.

Tao, F., Yokozawa, M., Liu, J., & Zhang, Z. (2009). Climate Change, Land Use Change, and China's Food Security in the Twenty-First Century: An Integrated Perspective. Climatic Change, 93, 433-445.

Tesfahunegn, G.B., & Gebru, T.A. (2020). Variation in Soil Properties Under Different Cropping and Other Land-Use Systems in Dura Catchment, Northern Ethiopia. PLOS ONE, 15(2).

Tufa, M., Melese, A., & Tena, W. (2019). Effects of Land-Use Types on Selected Soil Physical and Chemical Properties: The Case of Kuyu District, Ethiopia. Eurasian Journal of Soil Science, 8(2), 94-109.

Urra, J., Mijangos, I., Lanzén, A., Lloveras, J., & Garbisu, C. (2018). Effects of Corn Stover Management on Soil Quality. European Journal of Soil Biology, 88, 57-64.

Vasu, D., Singh, S.K., Ray, S.K., Duraisami, V.P., Tiwary, P., Chandran, P., Nimkar, A.M., & Anantwar, S.G. (2016). Soil Quality Index (SQI) as a Tool to Evaluate Crop Productivity in Semi-Arid Deccan Plateau, India. Geoderma, 282, 70-79.

Venkanna, K., Mandal, U.K., Solomon Raju, A.J., Sharma, K.L., Adake, R.V.,
Pushpanjali, B., Sanjeeva Reddy, Rahul N. Masane, K., Venkatravamma, & Babu,
P.B. (2014). Carbon Stocks in Major Soil Types and Land-Use Systems in Semiarid
Tropical Region of Southern India. Current Science, 106(4), 604-611.

Verma, B.C., Datta, S.P., Rattan, R.K., & Singh, A.K. (2013). Labile and Stabilized Fractions of Soil Organic Carbon in Some Intensively Cultivated Alluvial Soils. Journal of Environmental Biology, 34, 1069-1075.

Veum, K.S., Goyne, K.W., Kremer, R.J., Miles, R.J., & Sudduth, K.A. (2014). Biological indicators of soil quality and soil organic matter characteristics in an agricultural management continuum. Biogeochemistry, 117(1), 81-99.

Walkley, A.J., & Black, I.A. (1934). Estimation of Soil Organic Carbon by Chromic Acid Titration Method. Soil Science, 37, 29-38.

Wander, M.M., Cihacek, L.J., Coyne, M., Drijber, R.A., Grossman, J.M., Gutknecht, J.L., Horwath, W.R., Jagadamma, S., Olk, D.C., Ruark, M., & Snapp, S.S. (2019). Developments in agricultural soil quality and health: Reflections by the research committee on soil organic matter management. Frontiers in environmental science, 7, 109.

Weldeamalk, B., & Stroosnijder, L. (2003). Effects of Agroecological Land-Use Succession on Soil Properties in the Chemoga Watershed, Blue Nile Basin, Ethiopia. Geoderma, 111, 85-98.

Wilson, B.R., Koen, T.B., Barnes, P., Ghosh, S., & King, D. (2011). Soil carbon and related soil properties along a soil type and land-use intensity gradient, New South Wales, Australia. Soil Use and Management, 27(4), 437-447.

Yao, M.K., Angui, P.K.T., Konate, S., Tondoh, J.E., Tano, Y., Abbadie, L., & Benest,D. (2010). Effects of Land Use Types on Soil Organic Carbon and NitrogenDynamics in Mid-West Cote d'Ivoire. European Journal of Scientific Research, 402,211-222.

Yeasmin, S., Jahan, E., Molla, M.A., Mominul-Islam, A.K.M., Anwar, M.P., Rashid, M.H., & Chungopast, S. (2020). Effect of Land Use on Organic Carbon Storage Potential of Soils with Contrasting Native Organic Matter Content. International Journal of Agronomy, Article ID 8042961, 1-9.

Yitbarek, T., Gebrekidan, H., Kibret, K., & Beyene, S. (2013). Impacts of Land-Use on Selected Physicochemical Properties of Soils of Abobo Area, Western Ethiopia. Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, 2(5), 177-183.

Yu, P., Han, K., Li, Q., & Zhou, D. (2017). Soil Organic Carbon Fractions are Affected by Different Land Uses in an Agro-Pastoral Transitional Zone in Northeastern China. Ecological Indicator, 73, 331-337.

Zaher, H., Sabir, M., Benjelloun, H., & Igor, H.P. (2020). Effect of Forest Land-Use Change on Carbohydrates, Physical Soil Quality, and Carbon Stocks in Moroccan Cedar Area. Journal of Environmental Management, 254, 1-10.

Zajicova, K., & Chuman, T. (2019). Effect of Land-Use on Soil Chemical Properties After 190 Years of Forest to Agricultural Land Conversion. Soil and Water Research, 14, 121-131.

Zhang, J., Wang, X., & Wang, J. (2014). Impact of Land Use Change on Profile Distributions of Soil Organic Carbon Fractions in the Yanqi Basin. Catena, 115, 79-84.